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i 

 
QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

 
 1. Does the First Amendment permit a State, 
without regard to the truth or falsity of information 
disseminated over the Internet by one individual 
using the name of another, to criminalize the imper-
sonation merely because the disseminator intended 
the communication to diminish the reputation of the 
one impersonated? 

 2. Should a conviction that was obtained pursu-
ant to an overbroad statute subsequently narrowed 
on appeal in the same case be reversed under 
Shuttlesworth v. City of Birmingham, 382 U.S. 87 
(1965), and its progeny, which hold that such a con-
viction violates Due Process? 
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PARTIES TO THE PROCEEDINGS 

 
 The caption contains the names of all parties. 
The Petitioner, Raphael Golb, is an individual.  

 
RULE 29.6 STATEMENT 

 The Petitioner is not a nongovernmental corpora-
tion. 
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PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI 

 Petitioner, Raphael Golb, respectfully submits 
this petition for a writ of certiorari to review the 
judgment of the New York Court of Appeals in this 
case.  

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
 

OPINIONS BELOW 

 The opinion of the New York Court of Appeals can 
be found in the Appendix (“App.”), below, at App. 1-
App. 22. It is reported as People v. Golb, 23 N.Y.3d 
455, 991 N.Y.S.2d 792, 15 N.E.3d 805 (2014). The 
Court of Appeals judgment modified and affirmed a 
decision of the New York Supreme Court, Appellate 
Division, First Judicial Department, which is report-
ed at 102 A.D.3d 601, 960 N.Y.S.2d 66 (1st Dept. 
2013). (App. 23.) An unreported decision of the Su-
preme Court, New York County, dated February 11, 
2010, can be found in the Appendix. (App. 38.) 

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
 

JURISDICTION 

 The New York Court of Appeals entered its 
judgment on May 13, 2014. A motion for re-argument 
was timely filed; it was denied on September 4, 2014. 
See People v. Golb, 24 N.Y.3d 932, 993 N.Y.S.2d 543, 
17 N.E.3d 1139 (2014). (App. 43.) The jurisdiction of 
this Court is invoked under 28 U.S.C. § 1257(a). 

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
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CONSTITUTIONAL AND  
STATUTORY PROVISIONS INVOLVED 

 The First Amendment to the United States 
Constitution provides: 

Congress shall make no law respecting an 
establishment of religion, or prohibiting the 
free exercise thereof; or abridging the free-
dom of speech, or of the press; or the right of 
the people peaceably to assemble, and to pe-
tition the Government for a redress of griev-
ances. 

 The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States 
Constitution provides in pertinent part: 

 . . . nor shall any State deprive any person of 
life, liberty, or property, without due process 
of law. . . .  

 New York Penal Law § 170.05, Forgery in the 
Third Degree, is set forth in the Appendix, below, at 
App. 44. New York Penal Law § 190.25, Criminal 
Impersonation in the Second Degree, is set forth in 
the Appendix at App. 44-App. 45. 

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Introduction.  

 The Petitioner, Raphael Golb, is an Oberlin- and 
Harvard-trained classicist, comparative literature 
scholar, attorney, and author. Embroiled in an aca-
demic controversy, he sent email messages in the 
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names of others, similarly embroiled, whom he 
wished to ridicule. He now stands convicted of nine 
misdemeanor violations of New York’s Criminal 
Impersonation statute, N.Y. Penal L. § 190.25, and 
faces two months’ imprisonment for such violations. 
The Criminal Impersonation statute states, in rele-
vant part: 

A person is guilty of criminal impersonation 
in the second degree when he: (1) Imperson-
ates another and does an act in such as-
sumed character with intent to obtain a 
benefit or to injure or defraud another. . . . 
Criminal impersonation in the second degree 
is a class A misdemeanor.  

(App. 44-App. 45.) Golb also stands convicted of ten 
counts of misdemeanor Forgery under N.Y. Penal L. 
§ 170.05, and faces two months of concurrent prison 
time for such violations. This statute states:  

A person is guilty of forgery in the third de-
gree when, with intent to defraud, deceive or 
injure another, he falsely makes, completes 
or alters a written instrument. Forgery in 
the third degree is a class A misdemeanor. 

(App. 44.) The convictions under both statutes are for 
emails Golb sent with intent to “injure” the “reputa-
tions” of other scholars in a public debate about the 
origins of the Dead Sea Scrolls. The emails were sent 
in their names, allegedly to defame them.  

 Dr. Golb originally was indicted in the Supreme 
Court, New York County, in 2009, for two felonies and 
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forty-nine misdemeanors, for having sent out copies 
of articles, published elsewhere on the Internet, using 
parody emails to deliver them. The articles severely 
criticized the work of several scholars, defended the 
opposing theories of Golb’s father, another Dead Sea 
Scrolls scholar, and argued that a number of highly 
popular museum exhibits on the Dead Sea Scrolls 
were biased and misleading. The emails were sent in 
the names of two scholars and one pseudonym; they 
mocked and caricatured the scholars as pompous, 
irascible, and vain.  

 When the trial started, Golb asked the court to 
require the prosecutor to specify the sort of injury or 
benefit he was accused of trying to obtain by his 
conduct. The court refused: “I am not aware of any 
requirement that the People specify what the gain is, 
just like they don’t have to specify what the object 
crime is in a burglary crime case.” Golb objected “as a 
matter of due process. I think it’s a right of infor-
mation, a right to prepare a defense.” (Tr. 5-6.) (App. 
29-App. 30.)  

 In a pretrial order, the trial court indicated that 
“there is no longer a criminal penalty for libel,” and 
held that “neither good faith nor truth is a defense to 
any of the crimes charged here.” (App. 39.) Subse-
quently, the prosecutor’s case focused on the distress 
and “alarm” that these communications caused to one 
scholar. Actual harm to “reputation” was not specifi-
cally alleged or argued in the State’s case. More to the 
point, the intention to harm “reputation” was barely 
mentioned. 
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 At trial, the nature of the “injury” or “benefit” 
that Golb had intended by his conduct remained 
unclear. The court instructed the jury that, to find 
Golb guilty, it needed to find that Golb’s emails had 
“injured” or “benefited” someone. The court kept the 
definitions of “injury” and “benefit” open-ended, so 
that it could mean any sort of gain or loss, including 
moral and aesthetic intangibles. “Reputation” was not 
even mentioned in the jury instructions. The jury 
returned guilty verdicts premised on this vague and 
unlimited conception of “injury.” 

 On appeal in 2014, the New York Court of Ap-
peals, agreeing with Golb that the definition of “inju-
ry” the trial court had given to the jury was overbroad, 
affirmed on the basis of its narrowing the statute’s 
coverage to the intent to cause injury to the scholars’ 
“reputation.” The Court of Appeals decided that there 
was sufficient evidence of such intent, and affirmed 
the Criminal Impersonation and Forgery convictions.1  

 This petition for certiorari makes two challenges. 
First, the two statutes, now construed to protect 
against injuries to “reputation,” regardless of the 
truth or public interest of the alleged “impersonated” 
and “forged” utterances, is an unconstitutional crimi-
nalization of speech long protected by the First 

 
 1 The Court of Appeals reversed on eleven other counts, for 
Aggravated Harassment, felony and misdemeanor Identity Theft, 
Impersonation, and Unauthorized Use of a Computer. 23 N.Y.3d 
at 469, 991 N.Y.S.2d at 801, 15 N.E.3d 805, ___. (App. 22.) 
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Amendment and this Court’s precedents. Second, 
even if the Court of Appeals can be said to have 
“narrowed” the Criminal Impersonation and Forgery 
statutes to constitutional proportion, Golb did not 
have the benefit, and the jury did not have the guid-
ance, of that “narrower” construction when Golb was 
found guilty, requiring reversal under Shuttlesworth 
v. City of Birmingham, 382 U.S. 87 (1965), and its 
progeny, which hold that a conviction obtained under 
an overbroad statute that has been narrowed on 
appeal cannot stand.  

 
2. The Dead Sea Scrolls.  

 The Dead Sea Scrolls controversy grew out of 
long-standing disagreements over how the Scrolls 
originally came to be deposited in caves on cliffs 
located to the northwest of Qumran, an important 
archeological site near the Dead Sea. Many scholars 
have promoted a theory that the Scrolls were written 
or transcribed by the Essenes, a Jewish sect living in 
Palestine in the First Century CE. Others, including 
Golb and his father, Norman Golb (a professor of 
Ancient Near Eastern history and languages at the 
University of Chicago’s Oriental Institute), argue that 
the Scrolls are an eclectic mix of texts likely removed 
from libraries in Jerusalem and deposited for safe-
keeping in the caves near the Dead Sea when Roman 
legions destroyed Jerusalem in 70 CE. Controversies 
on the topic have raged since 1980, when Professor 
Golb first presented his theory in published form. The 
Golb-Jerusalem analysis has posed a direct challenge 
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to the Qumran-sectarian view, which has dominated 
scholarship since the Scrolls’ discovery in 1947. 

 
3. Golb’s Emails.  

 Golb was convicted of violations of the Criminal 
Impersonation and Forgery statutes, for having sent 
emails that, according to the State of New York, 
“victimized” three people who were supposedly “im-
personated” in the messages.  

 a. Professor Lawrence Schiffman taught Ancient 
Near Eastern history at New York University. Golb 
sent several messages from an email address that he 
created, larry.schiffman@gmail.com. The messages 
were satirical in tone, and were sent to others at NYU. 
Ostensibly from Schiffman, but written in a stilted 
style, the messages buffoonishly implored readers not 
to read a blog article (one of Golb’s, available on the 
Internet) that Golb had attached to the emails as a 
hyperlink. The article accused Professor Schiffman of 
having appropriated the ideas of Professor Norman 
Golb. The criticisms it expressed were not new. They 
had been discussed at length at academic conferences 
and in professional publications for at least a decade, 
and they had been posted on several other blogs and 
websites devoted to Ancient Near Eastern history and 
archeology. No witness testifying at trial said he or she 
had thought the emails were genuine.  

 b. A similar message was sent from the email 
address that he created, frank.cross2@gmail.com. 
Another well-known biblical historian and Scrolls 
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scholar, Professor Frank Moore Cross had taught2 at 
Harvard University and Wellesley College. Like 
Schiffman, Professor Cross was an exponent of the 
Qumran-sectarian school, and he disagreed with the 
Golb-Jerusalem school. Golb sent the “Frank Cross” 
email to members of the Religion department at Duke 
University on the occasion of an exhibit concerning 
the Scrolls at the North Carolina Museum of Science. 
It was written in a blustering, sarcastic tone, and 
attached published articles about the Museum’s fail-
ure, in an exhibit, to mention Professor Golb’s theory.  

 At trial, witnesses testified that Professor Cross 
always used his full name when dealing with profes-
sional colleagues, viz. Frank Moore Cross. (Tr. 816.) 
Professor Cross was not known to have communicat-
ed using email for a long time. (Tr. 815-16.) The 
prosecution put on no evidence that anyone was 
fooled into thinking Professor Moore actually had 
sent the emails; those who saw the messages said 
they did not look like something Professor Cross 
would have written. (Tr. 699, 814-15.)  

 c. Finally, Golb sent messages using the pseu-
donym Jonathan Seidel. The messages criticized 
exhibitions concerning the Scrolls in San Diego and 
at the Royal Ontario Museum for presenting a one-
sided view of the archeological evidence. The New 
York County prosecutor searched the nation for a 

 
 2 Professor Cross did not testify at trial, and he died in 
2012. 
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“Jonathan Seidel” who, he would argue at trial, had 
been “impersonated” in the emails.  

 Out of more than 100 Jonathan Seidels in the 
United States (Tr. 615-16), the District Attorney’s 
Office finally settled on a rabbi in Eugene, Oregon. 
Rabbi Seidel was not associated with the study of the 
Dead Sea Scrolls or Ancient Near Eastern history – 
but he had, coincidentally, taken a class from Profes-
sor Schiffman while doing his Ph.D. studies in Divini-
ty two decades earlier. Not surprisingly, Rabbi Seidel 
was completely unaware of anything having to do 
with the matter, until the New York County prosecu-
tor approached him and told him about it. (Tr. 612-
13.) 

 
4. The Emails’ ‘Impact’. 

 The prosecution put on no witness to testify that 
anyone who read the emails took them seriously or at 
face value. Some emails were put in evidence which 
appeared to respond to Professor Schiffman’s emails 
at face value, but the senders did not testify. With 
their deliberately stilted tone, and ludicrous en-
treaties not to look at (or even mention to the rising 
generation of scholars) articles that simultaneously 
were enclosed with the messages, the Schiffman and 
Cross “messages” were obvious schtick. Nor is there 
any evidence that anyone (except perhaps the prose-
cutor) connected the pseudonymous Seidel emails to 
the rabbi in Eugene, Oregon.  
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 As with most lampoons, the effect of the emails 
was actually the opposite – people immediately saw 
that the messages weren’t on the level. One of 
Schiffman’s superiors at NYU, Dean Richard Foley, 
testified that the “impersonation” and “false confes-
sion” format of the emails actually made them hard to 
take seriously. (Tr. 322.) Another said that her reac-
tion on receiving them was immediate skepticism: 
“This is really weird. Something is wrong here. This 
doesn’t make sense.” (Tr. 238, 250.) She recognized 
straightaway that the messages weren’t genuine, and 
that the signatures and addresses used in the emails 
weren’t Schiffman’s. “[T]hat’s just not how he signs 
his name. So there was a lack of credibility on the 
surface of that. . . .” (Tr. 262-63.) According to the 
prosecution’s witnesses, no one at NYU gave credence 
to the larry.schiffman@gmail.com emails. (Tr. 250, 
306.) Beside a couple of mentions in follow-up phone 
calls with Schiffman, the NYU administration did 
nothing to investigate the underlying accusations of 
plagiarism. (Tr. 239, 249-50, 253, 255, 301.) The 
messages and attached articles did not affect his 
tenure at NYU at all. (Tr. 196.) He suffered no eco-
nomic loss.3 (Tr. 195.) According to Dean Foley, 

 
 3 Professor Schiffman grudgingly admitted that notoriety 
attending disagreements over the Scrolls actually “ ‘make you 
money rather than losing you money,’ ” and he explained that 
“[t]he debate on the scrolls is profitable for those who participate 
in it because people are interested in it, they want to hear 
lectures and they want to hear this ongoing intellectual de-
bate[.]” (Tr. 198.) Nor did the Petitioner’s conduct affect 
Schiffman’s invitation to speak and consult at the Jewish 

(Continued on following page) 
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Schiffman continued to enjoy “a very good reputation” 
at NYU after the emails. (Tr. 316.)  

 Schiffman himself testified that he did not think 
anyone believed the emails’ plagiarism accusations. 
(Tr. 223-24.) He conceded that he has had to contend 
with such accusations several times in the past, 
including notably in a prominent interview that 
Israel’s daily newspaper Haaretz published in the 
1990s. (Tr. 66, 78, 207-17.) He allowed that the list of 
publicly-accessible blogs mentioning him on the 
subject was “very, very long.” (Tr. 136.)  

 The other Dead Sea Scrolls scholar “victimized” 
by the emails was Professor Cross, who was retired. 
As stated, the prosecutor put on no witness who 
thought the emails were genuine, and he adduced no 
proof that they had affected Professor Cross’s reputa-
tion. (Tr. 814-16.)  

 
5. Golb’s Unsuccessful Efforts to Narrow the 

Prosecution’s Theory.  

 In his pretrial motions, trial objections, and jury-
instruction requests and objections, Golb repeatedly 
challenged the State’s theory that Schiffman (or 

 
Museum exhibit, which was alleged to be the motive for the 
Schiffman emails. (Tr. 288.) In 2011, Professor Schiffman was 
appointed Vice Provost of Undergraduate Studies at Yeshiva 
University. See President Joel Appoints Vice Provost, YUNews 
Blog, Jan. 12, 2011, blogs.yu.edu/news/2011/01/12/provost-joel-
appoints-vice-provost (last visited November 24, 2014). 
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indeed any of the “victims”) had suffered a legally 
cognizable “injury,” or from “fraud,” or that anyone 
enjoyed a cognizable “benefit,” due to Golb’s email 
messages; or that Golb had intended any such harm 
or benefit. 

 In his motions to dismiss, for example, Golb 
argued that, under the First Amendment and corre-
sponding provisions of the New York State Constitu-
tion, “[a]ttempting to influence an academic debate is 
not a legally cognizable fraud, benefit or injury,” and 
that “[a]ttempting to injure the reputation of an 
academic opponent is not a legally cognizable fraud or 
injury.” Affirmation in Support of Motion for a Trial 
Order of Dismissal Pursuant to N.Y. Penal L. 
§ 290.10, Sept. 26, 2010, at 4. (App. 56.) He also 
challenged the unconstitutional overbreadth in the 
application of the statutes to his conduct. Id. at 5. 
These arguments were made for all counts of the 
indictment. Regarding the “Jonathan Seidel” Crimi-
nal Impersonation and Forgery counts, Golb contend-
ed that the prosecution had failed to articulate any 
“theory of what fraud, benefit, or injury [Golb] was 
intending to inflict or obtain through these e-mails, 
although the defense has been asking for over a year.” 
Id. at 10. (App. 62.) These motions were denied.  

 At trial, the State focused on the distress 
Schiffman felt because of the renewed charges of 
plagiarism. Neither reputational injury, nor the 
intent to cause it, was argued. In fact, the only testi-
mony on this topic averred that Schiffman enjoyed a 
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good reputation at NYU, undiminished by Golb’s 
parody emails and criticisms. (Tr. 316.)  

 Rather, the State emphasized the controversy, 
tumult, “name calling,” and “annoying and alarming” 
effects (Tr. 1245) that Schiffman experienced when 
confronted with another round of articles and polem-
ics – not the first in his career – accusing him of 
academic mediocrity and misappropriation.  

 This can be seen in the State’s summation. The 
prosecution’s theory was that Schiffman felt “har-
assed” because Golb had raised criticisms of his 
scholarship again – not because of the way in which 
Petitioner had chosen to raise them. Golb sent the 
emails, according to the prosecutor, because he was 
“invested [and] involved in his father’s theory, he 
helped his father write the book, how important it 
was for the defendant to get that theory out.” (Tr. 
1250.) Schiffman was upset to have been forced “to 
respond to the inquiries of [his] colleagues and asso-
ciates.” (Tr. 1245.) The prosecutor accused Golb of 
“us[ing] language to his advantage. He knows how to 
twist language, stir up controversy.” (Tr. 1246.) “This 
was not for parody, this was for maliciousness. It was 
intended to deceive, defraud, injure, harass and 
alarm. . . .” (Tr. 1240.) The word “reputation,” howev-
er, was not mentioned.  

 Golb made several attempts to persuade the trial 
court to instruct the jury to strictly focus on cogniza-
ble harms when considering the crimes charged. For 
example, he asked the court to rule out derision, 
criticism, insults, and defamations:  
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The intended injury that the People must 
prove is not limited to financial injury. How-
ever, not all injuries are the subject of the 
criminal law. [1.] Intending to [harm] anoth-
er’s reputation by disseminating falsehoods 
is not the type of harm that the criminal law 
recognizes. That type of injury may be re-
dressed in the civil courts. . . . [2.] Similarly, 
the injury intended must go beyond intend-
ing to have another spend time responding to 
accusations or criticisms. Defamation does 
not become criminal simply because the al-
leged injured party spends time responding 
to, or countering, what he or she believes to 
be falsehoods. . . . [3.] Similarly, intending to 
abuse, deride, provoke, with the use of 
words, even vulgar words, is not the type of 
harm that the criminal law recognizes. 

Defendant’s Request to Charge #1: Injury. (App. 72.) 
Regarding the “benefits” he allegedly got from his 
conduct, Golb asked for this charge:  

[N]ot all benefits are the subject of the crim-
inal law. The fact that a defendant may gain 
emotional pleasure from harming another’s 
reputation, from informing the public or the 
academic community of perceived wrongdo-
ing, from provoking debate, from getting an-
other to respond to criticisms, and/or from 
irritating another is not the type of benefit 
that the criminal law recognizes. 

Defendant’s Request to Charge #2: Benefit. (App. 73.) 
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 Golb also asked for an instruction reminding the 
jury that parody and satire should not be considered 
deceitful or fraudulent within the meaning of the 
criminal law: 

As with the terms “benefit” and “injury,” the 
intended deception need not be financial. 
And, as with the terms “benefit” and “injury,” 
not all deceptions are the subject of the crim-
inal law. Satire, parody, and/or pranks, for 
example, generally contain elements of de-
ception, but these are not criminal. 

Defendant’s Request to Charge #3: Defraud. (App. 73-
App. 74.) Also: 

The right to speak and write freely is pro-
tected by both the Constitution of the United 
States and the State of New York. You cannot 
find the defendant guilty of any of the 
charged offenses unless you find that his 
speech and/or writings created a clear and 
present danger of some serious, substantive 
evil. 

Defendant’s Request to Charge # 5: Freedom of 
Speech. (App. 76.)  

 Later, in Golb’s objections to the trial court’s 
proposed jury instructions, he argued that the in-
structions neglected to define the word “injury” at any 
point. The charge left the concept of “injury” open to 
anything, and so was unconstitutionally overbroad 
and vague when applied to expressive activity like 
sending satirical email messages. See Defendant’s 
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Objections to the Court’s Proposed Jury Charge, Sept. 
28, 2010, at 2. (App. 77-App. 78.)  

 Golb raised similar objections to imprecise use of 
obverse concepts of “benefit” and “any gain or ad-
vantage,” which, in the instructions, seemed to mean 
just about anything, “no matter how intangible, 
psychological, or spiritual, and render[ed] the term 
unconstitutionally vague and impossibly overbroad.” 
Id.  

 The trial court rejected these contentions. In one 
“little aside” to the jury, however, the trial court did 
refer to “numerous references during the trial to the 
First Amendment, to free academic discussion, to 
parody.” (Tr. 1280.) (App. 32.) The court told the 
jurors not to worry about it. The court assured them 
that “Tina Fey is free to keep doing her famous Sarah 
Palin imitation without danger of criminal imperson-
ation [charges].” (Tr. 1281.) (App. 33.) The court 
explained that not all words are First Amendment-
protected, and concluded, “So the questions for you 
are not the legal issues of freedom of speech under 
the First Amendment to the United States Constitu-
tion, but rather whether the elements of a charged 
crime have been proved beyond a reasonable doubt.” 
(Tr. 1281.) (App. 34.) 

 The jury instructions described Criminal Imper-
sonation as when a person “knowingly impersonates 
a specific other person and acts in such assumed 
character with intent to obtain a benefit or to injure 
or defraud another.” (Tr. 1287.) (App. 34.) “Benefit” 
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was defined as “any gain or advantage to the beneficiary 
[including] any gain or advantage to a third person 
pursuant to the desire or consent of the beneficiary.” 
Id. “Injury” and “intent to injure” were not defined 
anywhere in the instructions. 

 The harms the jury was told to consider for 
“intent to defraud”4 could be anything, based on a 
liberal definition expanded by several uses of the 
disjunctive word, “or”: 

A person acts with intent to defraud when 
his conscious or objective purpose is to de-
ceive or trick another with intent to deprive 
that person of his or her right or in some 
manner to do him or her an injury.  

The word defraud to give you a dictionary 
definition means to practice fraud, to cheat 
or trick, to deprive a person of property or in-
terest or right by fraud, deceit, or artifice. So 
the meaning of fraud both in its legal usage 
and its common usage is the same, a deliber-
ately planned purpose and intent to cheat, or 
deceive, or unlawfully deprive someone of 
some advantage, benefit, or property [empha-
sis added]. 

(Tr. 1279.) (App. 32.) 
 

 4 This “intent to defraud” instruction was given once, in 
connection with the indictment’s first counts, charging felony 
Identity Theft, later dismissed. The trial court made no further 
modifications or refinements to the “intent to defraud” definition 
when instructing on the Criminal Impersonation and Forgery 
statutes.  
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 Instructions on the Forgery statute were similar-
ly open-ended on the question of “injury.” The trial 
court said no more than that one of the elements was 
“the intent to defraud, deceive, or injure another” 
(emphasis added). (Tr. 1288.) (App. 35.) Again, “intent 
to injure” was not defined, while “intent to defraud” 
(and “intent to deceive”) carried the open-ended 
definitions that are quoted above.  

 Golb renewed his objections to the instructions 
when given. (Tr. 1291-92.) (App. 36.) Then the jury 
convicted him on thirty of the thirty-one counts for 
which he was tried.5 He was given a sentence of six 
months’ imprisonment. 

 Golb appealed to the Supreme Court, Appellate 
Division, First Judicial Department, claiming error 
on the above grounds. The Appellate Division re-
versed and dismissed only one count of identity theft, 
not in issue here. It affirmed the remaining twenty-
nine counts of conviction.  

 
6. The Court of Appeals’ Decision. 

 Golb appealed by leave to the New York Court of 
Appeals. That Court agreed with Golb’s contention 
that, with regard to the Criminal Impersonation 
statute, the statutory terms “ ‘injure’ and ‘benefit’ 
cannot be construed [as they had been by the trial 

 
 5 At trial, Petitioner was acquitted of one count of Criminal 
Impersonation in the Second Degree. 
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court] to apply to any injury or benefit, no matter how 
slight.” 23 N.Y.3d 455, 464, 991 N.Y.S.2d 792, 799, 15 
N.E.3d 805, ___ (2014) (emphasis in original). (App. 
11.) While narrowing the reach of the statute, the 
court’s majority nevertheless held that it proscribed 
cognizable “injury” to “reputation,” so that “a person 
who impersonates someone with the intent to harm 
the reputation of another may be found guilty of this 
crime.” 23 N.Y.3d at 466, 991 N.Y.S.2d at 799, 15 
N.E.3d 805, ___ (emphasis added). (App. 12.) The 
court found, as to Golb’s emails in the names of 
Schiffman, Seidel, and Cross, that “there was suffi-
cient evidence to support the jury’s finding that 
defendant’s emails . . . were more than a prank in-
tended to cause temporary embarrassment or discom-
fiture, and that [defendant] acted with intent to do 
real harm.” 23 N.Y.3d at 466, 991 N.Y.S.2d at 799-
800, 15 N.E.3d 805, ___. (App. 12.) 

 In upholding the Forgery convictions against a 
similar overbreadth challenge, the Court commented 
briefly that “[t]here was sufficient evidence to show 
that defendant deceived people by sending emails 
from accounts in the names of Schiffman, Seidel and 
Cross[.]” 23 N.Y.3d at 468, 991 N.Y.S.2d at 801, 15 
N.E.3d 805, ___. (App. 15.) The court did not specify 
who the “people” were who had been “deceived,” or 
how they had been deceived. More importantly, it did 
not address the possibility that the jury had convicted 
Golb based upon the same vague definition of “injure” 
that it held was overbroad with regard to the Crimi-
nal Impersonation charges.  
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 Court of Appeals Chief Judge Lippman dissented 
in part.6 He criticized the court’s construction of the 
Criminal Impersonation statute, even when cabined 
to conduct causing reputational injury, reasoning: “It 
is hard to imagine any pseudonymous communication 
that could not be prosecuted under this statute. And 
in an age in which pseudonymous communication has 
become ubiquitous, particularly on the Internet, this 
statute, literally understood, criminalizes a vast 
amount of speech that the First Amendment pro-
tects.” 23 N.Y.3d at 470, 991 N.Y.S.2d at 802-03, 15 
N.E.3d 805, ___. (App. 19.) If Golb had caused reputa-
tional injury, the dissent continued, that is not 
redressable as a crime, but “if at all, as a civil tort.” 
23 N.Y.3d at 471, 991 N.Y.S.2d at 803, 15 N.E.3d 805, 
___. (App. 21.) “[T]he First Amendment and the free 
and uninhibited exchange of ideas it is meant to 
foster” prohibit application of Impersonation and 
Forgery statutes to acts damaging reputation, the 
dissent reasoned. Id. “Criminal libel has long since 
been abandoned.” Id. (citing Ashton v. Kentucky, 384 
U.S. 195, 200-01 (1966); Garrison v. Louisiana, 379 
U.S. 64, 69 (1964)). (App. 21.) 

 Chief Judge Lippman also noted that, although 
the Court of Appeals had sought to narrow the 

 
 6 He joined the rest of the court in dismissing other counts, 
and striking down as unconstitutional the New York Aggravated 
Harassment law, Penal L. § 240.30(1)(a), which are not in issue 
in this Petition. People v. Golb, 23 N.Y.3d 455, 469, 991 N.Y.S.2d 
792, 802, 15 N.E.3d 805, ___ (2014). (App. 18.) 
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construction of the Impersonation statute because of 
its overbreadth, “this prosecution’s use of the statute 
was not limited in the way the Court now says it 
should have been.” 23 N.Y.3d at 470, 991 N.Y.S.2d at 
803, 15 N.E.3d 805, ___ (emphasis added). (App. 20.) 
Even though Golb “sought to have the jury charged so 
as to limit the statute’s reach, the trial court’s charge 
did not do that.” 23 N.Y.3d at 471, 991 N.Y.S.2d at 
803, 15 N.E.3d 805, ___. (App. 20.) 

 Following Chief Judge Lippman’s reasoning, 
Golb then moved for re-argument, grounded on 
Shuttlesworth v. City of Birmingham, 382 U.S. 87, 
95 (1965), and its progeny. He argued that, as 
Shuttlesworth holds, an appellate narrowing of an 
overbroad statute cannot save a conviction based 
upon that statute. The motion for re-argument was 
denied.7 (App. 43.)  

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
 

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION 

 The New York Court of Appeals purported to save 
a constitutionally defective conviction based upon an 

 
 7 Prior to resentencing, Golb made a post-verdict motion, 
pursuant to N.Y. Crim. Proc. L. § 330.30, raising the Shuttlesworth 
point as a basis to vacate the conviction. The court denied the 
motion on the ground that such a claim could not be raised in 
such a motion. Golb was re-sentenced to two months’ imprison-
ment. He took an appeal to the Appellate Division on the trial 
court’s denial of the Shuttlesworth motion. That appeal was 
argued October 30, 2014, and is still pending.  



22 

overbroad statute by narrowing the statute on appeal. 
But this Court’s precedents do not permit such a 
result. Moreover, the New York Criminal Impersona-
tion and Forgery statutes, even as narrowed, will now 
deter legitimate, constitutionally-protected freedom of 
expression. 

 
POINT I 

THE COURT OF APPEALS’ CONSTRUCTION 
OF CRIMINAL IMPERSONATION AND FOR-
GERY LAWS TO PROHIBIT ‘INJURY TO REP-
UTATION’ IMPERMISSIBLY CRIMINALIZES 
FREE SPEECH. 

 The Court of Appeals’ supposed “narrowing” of 
the Criminal Impersonation and Forgery statutes to 
conduct intended to injure the reputation of another 
does not make this prosecution more constitutionally 
acceptable. The statutes have been force-marched 
into the realm of speech and ideas, now that “reputa-
tion” has become one of their protected interests. The 
laws no longer operate “only with narrow specificity” 
to which measures burdensome of speech must be 
confined. NAACP v. Button, 371 U.S. 415, 433 (1963); 
see also Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates, 
Inc., 455 U.S. 489, 499 (1982). 

 This Court has held that, where the government 
regulates conduct in a manner that potentially bur-
dens free speech, “[i]f [the] conduct is expressive, we 
next decide whether the State’s regulation is related 
to the suppression of free expression.” Texas v. John-
son, 491 U.S. 397, 402, (1989); see also Spence v. 
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Washington, 418 U.S. 405, 409-11 (1974); United 
States v. O’Brien, 391 U.S. 367, 377 (1968). Even if a 
law, on its face, does not regulate a defendant’s 
speech, the courts must closely analyze whether it is 
unconstitutional because “as applied to him [it] 
violates the First Amendment.” Johnson, 491 U.S. at 
403 & n.3. See also Burson v. Freeman, 504 U.S. 191 
(1992) (statute prohibiting campaign materials with-
in 100 feet of polling place a content-based restriction 
subject to strict scrutiny). To withstand constitutional 
challenge, a burden on speech must be “necessary to 
serve a compelling state interest and [be] narrowly 
drawn to achieve that end.” Boos v. Barry, 485 U.S. 
312, 321 (1988) (citations omitted). Courts must 
analyze whether there is available a less restrictive 
alternative, more narrowly tailored to the interest 
invoked. Sable Commc’ns of Cal., Inc. v. FCC, 492 
U.S. 115, 126 (1989); Boos, 485 U.S. at 329. Here, the 
court below did not conduct the requisite analysis and 
gave short shrift to the burden on free expression 
that its construction of New York’s penal statutes will 
cause.  

 
A. The Court of Appeals Unconstitutionally 

Analyzed Golb’s Messages as Pure Con-
duct. 

 The Court of Appeals analyzed Golb’s parody 
emails not as speech but instead purely as criminal 
conduct – as “acts” of “impersonation.” This approach 
blinks the obvious fact that the email messages were 
expressions of ideas, written to influence thinking 
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about the Dead Sea Scrolls debate. Unlike hold-up 
notes or forged checks, the emails were not written to 
wrest benefits, or inflict injuries, beyond influencing 
the reader’s opinion about the ideas inscribed in 
them.  

 The emails manifested only the “intent to convey 
a particularized message [where] the likelihood was 
great that the message would be understood by those 
who viewed it.” Johnson, 491 U.S. at 404 (quoting 
Spence, 418 U.S. at 410-11) (flag desecration). See 
also Tinker v. Des Moines Indep. Cmty. Sch. Dist., 393 
U.S. 503 (1969) (wearing armbands); Schacht v. 
United States, 398 U.S. 58 (1970) (wearing military 
uniforms); United States v. Grace, 461 U.S. 171 (1983) 
(picketing). Readers recognized them as send-ups, 
containing serious criticisms of Professor Schiffman’s 
work, and calling attention to other such criticisms. 
They did no cognizable harm.  

 Of course, the prosecution’s theory is that Golb 
intended to do harm, not that he actually did so, and 
that the harm was inflicted by “impersonated” or 
“forged” email messages, since it forced Schiffman to 
respond to accusations of academic misconduct and 
upset him. Even so, this stilted approach to “injury” 
flies in the face of several precedents of this Court, 
and opens up the possibility that, essentially for the 
first time since Garrison v. Louisiana, 379 U.S. 64 
(1964), withering or “alarming” criticism will become 
criminalized again.  
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 The prosecution took full advantage of the possi-
bility at trial, emphasizing to the jury that the de-
fendant “knows how to twist language, stir up 
controversy. As a result, what he can do is . . . devious 
and disturbing. . . .” (Tr. 1246.) At sentencing, the 
prosecutor expressed a similar view: “The most 
egregious was [Golb’s] actions against Dr. Schiffman; 
impersonation plus a malicious smear campaign 
designed to destroy Dr. Schiffman’s career” (emphasis 
added). (Sentencing Tr. 8.) And later, the Court of 
Appeals explained that it “believe[s] the legislature 
intended that the scope of the statute be broad 
enough to capture acts [of impersonation] intended to 
cause injury to reputation.” 23 N.Y.3d 455, 466, 991 
N.Y.S.2d 792, 799, 15 N.E.3d 805, ___. (App. 12.) 

 But what gets lost in this approach is the absence 
of a causal connection between the criminal act 
alleged and the injury that was intended or resulted. 
Any “injury” done to Professor Schiffman, whether to 
his reputation, or to his sense of complacency, was not 
the result of the act of impersonation. Rather, it was 
the result (more precisely, the intended result) of the 
already-published accusations of plagiarism that 
were attached to the emails. The objective of the 
emails was to encourage the recipients to read some 
of the articles about Schiffman. To persuade someone 
to read a publication is not an unlawful aim, regard-
less of what the publication says. It is both lawful and 
constitutionally protected. This is so regardless whose 
reputation benefits or suffers from the reading, or 
whose name is used when one does the persuading, or 
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whether the persuading is done in an ironical or 
earnest manner.8  

 The articles were themselves lawful communica-
tions outlining for the scholarly community serious 
problems with Professor Schiffman’s scholarly meth-
ods. The acts for which Golb was indicted and con-
victed – the use of someone else’s name in email 
messages – had the entirely lawful objective of grab-
bing the recipient’s attention, and encouraging recipi-
ents to read the attached publications.  

 
B. The Court of Appeals Construed the Stat-

utes in an Unconstitutionally Vague Man-
ner, and Authorized the Punishment of 
Protected Speech. 

 The Court of Appeals’ construction of “injury to 
reputation” in the Criminal Impersonation and 
Forgery statutes renders them unconstitutionally 

 
 8 Nor does use of domain names other than the sender’s 
true name make it less so. A person is perfectly free under the 
First Amendment not to identify himself while exercising 
freedom of expression in matters of public concern. Regulations 
requiring a speaker or publisher to accurately identify himself or 
herself regularly fail under constitutional scrutiny. See, e.g., 
McIntyre v. Ohio Elections Comm’n, 514 U.S. 334, 342-43 (1995); 
Talley v. California, 362 U.S. 60 (1960); see also Watchtower 
Bible & Tract Soc’y v. Vill. of Stratton, 536 U.S. 150, 166-67 
(2002). Indeed, the powerless and unpopular have often dis-
guised their authorship, when compelled to take up pen against 
the privilege and power. It is in “an honorable tradition of 
advocacy and of dissent.” McIntyre, 514 U.S. at 356.  
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vague. The articles attached to the emails plainly 
were intended to excoriate Schiffman’s scholarly 
work. But the intended results of reading them, even 
the intended diminution of Schiffman’s academic 
reputation, should find constitutional protection. By 
loading the criminal statutes in question with a new 
category of “reputational” injuries, the New York 
Court of Appeals has redefined them in a manner 
that renders their scope more indefinite, and more 
susceptible of “arbitrary and discriminatory enforce-
ment.” Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 357 (1983). 
The court’s re-interpretation of New York’s Imperson-
ation and Forgery laws has the opposite effect to 
vindicating legitimate interests with narrowly tai-
lored regulation. It leaves New York citizens and law-
enforcement authorities alike uncertain about the 
boundaries of acceptable and prohibited expression. 
Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 108-09 
(1972). Where issues of public interest are involved, 
however, and no matter how vituperative or tasteless 
the expression, the intent to diminish and disparage 
academic reputations finds protection under the First 
Amendment. 

 Before this case, these criminal statutes were 
construed to protect pecuniary interests, and to dis-
courage interference with government operations. 
Golb, 23 N.Y.3d at 464-65, 991 N.Y.S.2d at 798-99, 15 
N.E.3d 805, ___ (citations omitted). (App. 10.) Now, the 
Court of Appeals holds that they also protect “reputa-
tions,” which can mean many things. The trial court 
did not even use the word in its jury instructions. The 
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Court of Appeals of course used it, but it did not 
define it. The court took two formerly straightforward 
criminal statutes, and transformed them into vague 
and open-ended prohibitions against “injury to repu-
tation,” which threatens to impose unconstitutional 
restrictions on speech. The court should have narrow-
ly construed the statutes to avoid such expression-
inhibiting vagueness. See, e.g., Skilling v. United 
States, 561 U.S. 358 (2010); McNally v. United States, 
483 U.S. 350 (1987).   

 The court’s gloss on Criminal Impersonation and 
Forgery, like all laws vaguely drawn, violates the 
constitutional limitations on government action 
because it is unclear precisely which reputation-
lowering “impersonations” and “forgeries,” if any, are 
still permissible. The re-interpreted laws will poten-
tially compel actors, impressionists, bloggers, year-
book editors, cartoonists, lampooners, and even 
amateur law-revue thespians, to “ ‘steer far wider of 
the unlawful zone’ . . . than if the boundaries of the 
forbidden areas were clearly marked.” Baggett v. 
Bullitt, 377 U.S. 360, 372 (1964) (quoting Speiser v. 
Randall, 357 U.S. 513, 526 (1958). These criminal 
prohibitions against conduct injurious to “reputation” 
loom in terrorem against creative acts of satire, 
caricature, and impersonation. Zwickler v. Koota, 389 
U.S. 241, 252 (1967). The chilling effect on speech 
warrants intervention by this Court, before more 
speech becomes chilled. 

 These are criminal statutes. They don’t just 
threaten “the opprobrium and stigma of criminal 
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conviction” for Golb; they also create a prospect of 
incarceration for others that “may well cause speak-
ers to remain silent rather than communicate even 
arguably unlawful words, ideas, and images,” Reno v. 
ACLU, 521 U.S. 844, 872 (1997); see also Dombrowski 
v. Pfister, 380 U.S. 479, 494 (1965), and chill the 
expression of many forms of parody, satire, and other 
reputation-deflating depictions, see ACLU, 521 U.S. 
at 871-72; Gentile v. State Bar of Nevada, 501 U.S. 
1030, 1048-51 (1991).  

 While Golb’s emails held up to public ridicule two 
well-known biblical professors, Schiffman and Cross, 
people have been doing this sort of thing for centu-
ries. It rarely is a pleasant experience for the target. 
Whether this leads to legally cognizable injury, how-
ever, is another matter. As the Court explained in 
Hustler Magazine v. Falwell, 485 U.S. 46, 53-54 
(1988), parody and satire in general are always 
“weapons of attack”; they are often intensely person-
al; they often aim to arouse “scorn and ridicule.” Yet 
the Court held that such speech – even in its most 
scorn- and ridicule-provoking forms, does not lose 
constitutional protection because “it may embarrass 
others or coerce them into action.” Id. at 55 (quoting 
NAACP v. Claiborne Hardware Co., 458 U.S. 886, 910 
(1982)). The Falwell Court could not have been clear-
er: Speech of this sort does not lose protection simply 
because it is “outrageous.” 485 U.S. at 53, 56. “[I]n 
the world of debate about public affairs, many things 
that are done with motives that are less than  
admirable are protected by the First Amendment.” Id. 
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at 53, citing Garrison v. Louisiana, 379 U.S. 64 
(1964). 

 
C. The Court Below Has Impermissibly Resus-

citated the Prosecution of Criminal Libel. 

 The Court of Appeals’ construction of New York’s 
Criminal Impersonation and Forgery statutes to 
punish harms to personal reputation revives the 
Criminal Libel prosecutions which this Court laid to 
rest fifty years ago. Since Garrison v. Louisiana, 379 
U.S. 64 (1964), criminal punishment for injury to 
reputation has been on steep decline in American law. 
As the dissent observed in this case, “Criminal libel 
has long since been abandoned, not least because of 
its tendency in practice to penalize and chill speech 
that the constitution protects.” People v. Golb, 23 
N.Y.3d at 471, 991 N.Y.S.2d at 803, 15 N.E.3d 805, 
___ (Lippman, C.J., dissenting) (citations omitted). 
(App. 21.) Cases from this Court, such as Garrison 
and Ashton v. Kentucky, 384 U.S. 195 (1966), were 
intended to be the final nails in criminal libel’s coffin.  

 In Garrison, the Court struck down a criminal 
libel prosecution, observing, “Truth may not be the 
subject of either civil or criminal sanctions where 
discussion of public affairs is concerned.” 379 U.S. at 
74. In Ashton, this Court held that common law 
criminal libel – defined there as “publishing a false 
and malicious publication which tends to degrade or 
injure” – was incompatible with the First Amend-
ment. 384 U.S. at 197, 200-01. Consistent with this, 
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this Court has vigilantly curbed other forms of gov-
ernment action aimed at compelling citizens to tell 
the “truth,” particularly in matters of public interest 
and controversy. See Susan B. Anthony List v. 
Driehaus, ___ U.S. ___, 134 S.Ct. 2334 (2014); United 
States v. Alvarez, ___ U.S. ___, 132 S.Ct. 2537 (2012). 

 After Garrison and Ashton, criminal laws against 
expressive activity were supposed to narrowly define 
what conduct is prohibited, and also to clearly exempt 
conduct that is constitutionally protected. Ashton, 384 
U.S. at 201. As a result, according to one study, for 
more than a decade, local courts throughout the 
United States have seen only three successful crimi-
nal libel prosecutions.9 The New York Court of Ap-
peals’ decision in this case, however, portends a 
resurgence. At last count, eight state legislatures 
have passed laws criminalizing impersonations in 

 
 9 According to the Organization for Security and Coopera-
tion in Europe, fewer than twenty successful criminal libel 
prosecutions were brought between 1965 and 2005, in state 
courts in the United States. (There is no federal criminal libel 
statute.) From 1992 to 2004, six criminal libel cases resulted in 
convictions, but three of these were later reversed on appeal, 
with findings that the laws were unconstitutional. See OSCE, 
Libel and Insult Laws: A Matrix on Where We Stand and What 
We Would Like to Achieve 171-72 (Vienna 2005). When statistics 
were last surveyed for the OSCE (2004), no one was incarcerated 
for criminal libel in the United States. Id. Seventeen States and 
two territories, however, still carry criminal libel laws, in some 
form, on their books. Id. at 171.  
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emails and on websites.10 Whereas formerly courts 
have found conduct such as Golb’s to be constitution-
ally protected,11 this sort of prosecution rapidly could 
become commonplace. Expressive conduct which, up 
to now, has been treated as part of the American 
political and cultural landscape,12 could suddenly lose 

 
 10 See Cal. Penal Code § 528.5 (West 2011); Tex. Penal Code 
Ann. § 33.07 (Vernon 2011); N.J. Stat. Ann. § 2C:21-17 (West 
2014); R.I. Gen. Laws § 11-052-7.1 (2014); Wash. Rev. Code Ann. 
§ 9A.60.040 (West 2004); La. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 14:17.10 (2012); 
Haw. Rev. Stat. § 711-1106.6 (2008); 720 Ill. Comp. Stat. 5/17-2 
(West 2013).  
 11 See, e.g., Snyder v. Blue Mountain Sch. Dist., 650 F.3d 
915, 921 (3d Cir. 2011), cert. denied, ___ U.S. ___, 132 S.Ct. 1097 
(2012) (student created MySpace profile depicting her principal 
confessing to unprofessional acts; “no one took its content 
seriously”; no basis to discipline for out-of-school conduct); 
Layshock v. Hermitage Sch. Dist., 496 F. Supp. 2d 587 (W.D. Pa. 
2007), aff ’d en banc, 650 F.3d 205 (3d Cir. 2011), cert. denied, ___ 
U.S. ___, 132 S.Ct. 1097 (2012) (First Amendment protected high 
school student from disciplinary action for MySpace profile that 
parodied principal, used his name and his photograph, and 
depicted false confessions to misconduct).  
 12 See, e.g., http://TheSarahPalinChannel.com (last visited 
Nov. 24, 2014); see also Hadas Gold, Stephen Colbert Buys 
“Sarah Palin” Website, Politico, July 30, 2014, politico.com/blogs/ 
media/2014/07/Stephen-colbert-buys-sarah-palin-website-193119.htm 
(last visited Nov. 24, 2014); We Didn’t Forget, Jack, 
www.JackAbramoff.com (Democratic Congressional Campaign 
Committee site excoriating Republican fundraising and candi-
dates) (last visited Nov. 24, 2014); Miguel Helft, Facebook, Foe of 
Anonymity, Is Forced to Explain a Secret, N.Y. Times, May 13, 
2011 (“The social network requires people to use their real 
identity . . . Now, Facebook is being taken to task for trying to 
conceal its own identity as it sought to coax reporters and 
technology experts to write critical stories about . . . Google”), 

(Continued on following page) 
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its “breathing space,” Falwell, 485 U.S. at 56, and 
become criminal.  

 Moreover, to be liable under the Court of Appeals’ 
theory of reputational injury, the truth of matters 
asserted does not even matter. The validity of Golb’s 
accusations of plagiarism was deemed irrelevant to 
his defense; the trial judge explained that “neither 
good faith nor truth is a defense to any of the crimes 
charged.” Opinion on Motion to Dismiss, Feb. 11, 
2010, at 2 n.1. (App. 39.) The intention to injure 
reputation – the aim of virtually all parody – is 
enough to convict.  

 In short, as New York law now stands, attacks on 
“reputation” can be punished in the criminal courts, if 
impersonation is used. Traditional defenses to defa-
mation are removed. New York’s newly discovered 
“interest” in punishing injuries to reputation – par-
ticularly where neither truth nor fair public comment 

 
www.nytimes.com (last visited Nov. 24, 2014); Adam Smith, Fake 
Twitter Account, Republican Party of Florida Feud Linked, 
Tampa Bay Times, Nov. 4, 2009 (“fake Twitter account aimed at 
discrediting a prominent critic of state GOP leaders has been 
linked back to a senior official in the Republican Party”), 
www.tampabay.com/news/politics/stateroundup/fake-twitter-account- 
republican-party-of-florida-feud-linked/1049455 (last visited Nov. 
24, 2014); Christopher Orr, If You Can’t Beat ‘Em, The New 
Republic Blog, Oct. 27, 2009 (33 accounts “created by Republican 
using the names of Democratic state representatives [in plan] to 
send out posts under the Democrats’ names mocking [them]”), 
www.tnr.com/blog/the-plank/if-you-cant-beat-em-0 (last visited 
Nov. 24, 2014). 
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is a defense – flies squarely in the face of the First 
Amendment, and of two centuries of precedent. Will 
seditious libel, which passed from the American legal 
scene in the nineteenth century, and which one 
commonly views as the relic of tyranny, be revived 
next?  

 
POINT II 

CRIMINAL CONVICTIONS BASED UPON 
OVERBROAD STATUTES THAT HAVE BEEN 
NARROWED ON APPEAL CANNOT STAND. 

 Even if the Court of Appeals’ construction of the 
Criminal Impersonation and Forgery statutes does 
pass muster under the First Amendment, Golb still 
would not have been given a fair trial under the 
Fourteenth Amendment. He was tried and convicted 
under a construction of the statutes that was uncon-
stitutionally broad. The highest court of New York 
“narrowed” them so that they only addressed conduct 
injurious to reputation. The jury, however, did not 
have the benefit of this narrowing construction, and it 
is very unlikely that its verdict was in accordance 
with it. A conviction cannot stand on a statute that 
has been narrowed on constitutional grounds on 
appeal. Under this Court’s settled law, the judgment 
should be summarily reversed and the matter re-
manded for a new trial.  

 Several precedents of this Court require such a 
disposition. In Shuttlesworth v. City of Birmingham, 
382 U.S. 87, 95 (1965), the Court reversed a conviction 
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based on a loitering statute that had been narrowed 
and clarified on appeal. In Osborne v. Ohio, 495 U.S. 
103, 123 (1990), this Court similarly reversed a 
conviction under an Ohio pornography statute, after 
the State’s highest court, finding the statute over-
broad, narrowed it, and Osborne’s jury had not been 
told of the change. 

 The rule from this line of cases is quite clear:  

[W]here a State Supreme Court narrows an 
unconstitutionally overbroad statute, the 
State must ensure that defendants are con-
victed under the statute as it is subsequently 
construed and not as it was originally writ-
ten.  

Osborne, 495 U.S. at 118 (emphasis added).  

 Here, the jury convicted Golb based on an inter-
pretation of the Criminal Impersonation and Forgery 
statutes that was unconstitutionally indefinite and 
open-ended, due in part to a definition of “injury” that 
could be anything. The Court of Appeals attempted to 
narrow the statutory definition in an attempt to 
comport with constitutional requirements, but the 
case already had been tried based upon the overbroad 
definition that the Court of Appeals rejected. Thus, 
the conviction, based on an overbroad construction of 
statutes that was rejected on appeal, must, consistent 
with due process, be reversed.  

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
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CONCLUSION 

 The petition for writ of certiorari should be 
granted. 
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OPINION OF THE COURT 

Abdus-Salaam, J. 

 University of Chicago Professor Norman Golb is 
a scholar of the Dead Sea Scrolls. This case involves 
an Internet campaign by Golb’s son, Raphael Golb, to 
attack the integrity and harm the reputation of other 
Dead Sea Scrolls academics and scholars, while 
promoting the views of his father. 

 To accomplish his goal of discrediting and harm-
ing these individuals, defendant, using pseudonyms 
and impersonating real academics and scholars, sent 
emails to museum administrators, academics and 
reporters. He published anonymous blogs. He con-
cocted an elaborate scheme in which he used a pseu-
donym to engage one professor in an email exchange, 
and then impersonated a different scholar to criticize 
that professor’s emails. Defendant impersonated a 
New York University (NYU) professor and sent 
emails to NYU students and NYU deans indicating 
that the professor had plagiarized the work of Profes-
sor Golb. 
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 A New York County grand jury charged defen-
dant with 51 counts of identity theft, criminal imper-
sonation, forgery, aggravated harassment and 
unauthorized use of a computer. He proceeded to a 
jury trial, where 31 counts were submitted for the 
jury’s consideration. The jury convicted on 30 counts: 
two counts of identity theft in the second degree; 14 
counts of criminal impersonation in the second de-
gree; 10 counts of forgery in the third degree; three 
counts of aggravated harassment in the second de-
gree; and one count of unauthorized use of a comput-
er. Defendant was sentenced to six months in jail and 
five years of probation on the identity theft counts 
and to concurrent lesser terms on the remaining 
counts. The Appellate Division modified the Supreme 
Court judgment to the extent of vacating the identity 
theft conviction in the first count of the indictment 
and dismissing that count, and otherwise affirming 
the judgment (102 AD3d 601 [1st Dept 2013]). A 
Judge of this Court granted defendant leave to appeal 
(20 NY3d 1099 [2013]). For the reasons that follow, 
we affirm the convictions for nine counts of criminal 
impersonation in the second degree and all of the 
convictions for forgery. We vacate the conviction for 
identity theft in the second degree; five of the con-
victions for criminal impersonation in the second 
degree; all of the convictions for aggravated harass-
ment in the second degree, and the conviction for 
unauthorized use of a computer. 
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I. 

The Dead Sea Scrolls and  
Defendant’s Internet Campaign 

 As was explained at the trial, the Dead Sea 
Scrolls are a collection of ancient religious writings 
dating from the second and third century B.C.E. to 
the first century C.E.1 They were discovered in 1948 
in caves near Qumran, in the West Bank. Norman 
Golb, defendant’s father, is a professor at the Univer-
sity of Chicago, and a scholar on the subject of the 
Scrolls. There is disagreement among scholars and 
experts about who wrote the Scrolls. One view, known 
as the Qumran-Sectarian theory, or Sectarian theory, 
is that the Scrolls were writings of a Jewish sect, 
living in or near Qumran. 

 Norman Golb and others disagree with the 
Qumran-Sectarian theory. They believe that the 
Scrolls were writings of various groups and that the 
writings were rescued from libraries in Jerusalem 
and brought to the caves for safekeeping at the time 
of the siege and sacking of the city by Roman troops 
in 70 C.E. (the Jerusalem libraries theory). Professor 
Golb challenges the Qumran-Sectarian theory as 
unsupported by any actual evidence. In his 1995 
book, Who Wrote the Dead Sea Scrolls?, Professor 
Golb discusses not only the history of Scroll research, 

 
 1 B.C.E. (Before the Common Era) and C.E. (the Common 
Era) are the equivalent of B.C. and A.D., respectively. 
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but criticizes what he believes to be unethical re-
search practices regarding the Scrolls. 

 Beginning in September 2006, the Dead Sea 
Scrolls became the subject of a series of museum 
exhibits. Defendant engaged in an Internet campaign 
to criticize those involved in the exhibits because, in 
defendant’s opinion, the exhibits did not present his 
father’s theories about the origin of the Scrolls. One 
of defendant’s targets was Robert Cargill, who at the 
time was a graduate student at the University of 
California in Los Angeles (UCLA) working toward his 
Ph.D. in near eastern languages and culture. Cargill 
had published on the topic of the Scrolls. In 2007, the 
Scrolls were put on exhibit at the San Diego Natural 
History Museum. For use at that exhibit, Cargill 
created a digital movie called “Ancient Qumran,” 
which was a silent tour of the site where the Scrolls 
were discovered, and he wrote a script to be read in 
conjunction with the movie. The script did not de-
scribe Professor Golb’s view of the Scrolls’ origins. 

 Using pseudonyms, defendant sent emails to 
UCLA media addresses including newsmedia.ucla.edu, 
a UCLA professor, Cargill’s doctoral advisor, many 
other “ucla.edu” addresses, and an entertainment 
company with which Cargill had signed a contract, 
criticizing Cargill and questioning his scholarship. 
Cargill testified that everyone in his department, 
people in the press room, the Provost of UCLA, and 
his dean asked him “what the hell is going on, what is 
this all about?” On a number of occasions, defendant 
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used an anonymous blog to post his grievances about 
the San Diego exhibit and the Cargill movie. 

 When the Dead Sea Scrolls exhibit moved to 
Raleigh, North Carolina, defendant targeted Stephen 
Goranson, a library clerk at Duke University who had 
published articles on the Scrolls. Goranson disagreed 
with Professor Golb’s theories and criticized them in 
public Internet forums. In July 2008, writing as 
“Peter Kaufman, Ph.D.,” defendant separately 
emailed the Provost and the President of Duke Uni-
versity, as well as Goranson’s supervisor at the li-
brary, complaining about Goranson’s purported 
Internet attacks on Professor Golb and suggesting 
that they consider whether this conduct was appro-
priate for a Duke employee. The Provost responded 
that a supervisor was speaking to Goranson and 
advising him of his obligations. Defendant also creat-
ed an email account under the name of “steve. 
goransongmail.com.” 

 Defendant also undertook an elaborate scheme 
involving the impersonation of Dead Sea Scrolls 
scholar and retired Harvard Professor Frank Cross. 
The first layer of the scheme was to assume the 
pseudonym of “Jerome Cooper” to engage in an email 
exchange with University of North Carolina Professor 
Bart Ehrman (who had been slated to lecture at the 
Raleigh exhibit) about the origin of the Scrolls. De-
fendant then anonymously published a blog denounc-
ing the selection of Ehrman as lecturer and 
publishing the emails from Professor Ehrman to 
“Jerome Cooper,” which defendant said Cooper had 
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been “good enough to forward to me.” Defendant’s 
next step was to create the email address “frank. 
cross2gmail.com” and send four separate but identical 
messages to four University of North Carolina schol-
ars. In those emails from the “Frank Cross” email 
address, defendant attached links to his anonymous 
blog entries containing Ehrman’s emails, and stated 
that “Bart” had “put his foot in his mouth again.” He 
signed those emails “Best, Frank Cross.” 

 The Scrolls were put on exhibit at the Jewish 
Museum in New York City in the fall of 2008, and 
NYU Professor Lawrence Schiffman was scheduled as 
a lecturer. Defendant used the pseudonym “Peter 
Kaufman” to publish an article about Schiffman on 
the social news website NowPublic entitled “Plagia-
rism and the Dead Sea Scrolls: Did NYU department 
chairman pilfer from Chicago historian’s work?” 
Defendant as “Kaufman” wrote of a “little-known case 
of apparent academic quackery.” He complained of 
Schiffman’s failure to credit Professor Golb for ideas 
expressed in Schiffman’s articles about the Scrolls, 
and Schiffman’s repeated plagiarisms of Golb’s work. 

 Using NYU computers, defendant sent emails 
from another account he created – “larry.schiffmangmail. 
com” – to four of Schiffman’s students and multiple 
NYU addresses of Schiffman’s colleagues that includ-
ed a link to the article. The emails stated, among 
other things, that “someone is intent on exposing a 
minor failing of mine that dates back almost fifteen 
years ago” and that “[t]his is my career at stake.” He 
signed those emails “Lawrence Schiffman.” Additionally, 
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defendant sent identical emails from the Schiffman 
email address to the Provost of NYU and the Dean of 
NYU Graduate School of Arts and Science. Defen-
dant, as Schiffman, asked what action he could take 
“to counter charges of plagiarism that have been 
raised against me” and stated: 

 “Apparently, someone is intent on exposing a 
failing of mine that dates back almost fifteen years 
ago. It is true that I should have cited Dr. Golb’s 
articles when using his arguments, and it is true that 
I misrepresented his ideas. But this is simply the 
politics of Dead Sea Scrolls studies. If I had given 
credit to this man I would have been banned from 
conferences around the world.” 

 He signed those emails “Lawrence Schiffman, 
professor.” 

 NYU’s Senior Vice Provost responded to this 
email, stating that he had assigned the matter to a 
dean for further investigation. Defendant, as 
“Schiffman,” forwarded that email from the Vice 
Provost (including defendant’s email to the Provost) 
to five NYU school newspaper email addresses, 
asking that they not mention this matter and stating 
that his “career is at stake.” He signed those emails 
“Lawrence Schiffman.” 

 In the fall of 2008, the Scrolls exhibit was sched-
uled to move to the Royal Ontario Museum (ROM) in 
Toronto. Dr. Jonathan Seidel, a rabbi in Oregon and a 
professor of Judaic studies at the University of Ore-
gon, had studied with Professor Schiffman at NYU. 
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Defendant created the email address “seidel.jonathan 
gmail.com” and sent an email to the Board of Trus-
tees at the ROM, blind copying numerous other 
individuals at the museum. That email, among other 
things, included links to articles concerning the San 
Diego exhibition of the Scrolls and criticism by Pro-
fessor Golb of the exhibit, which was curated by Dr. 
Risa Levitt Kohn, the same individual who was 
curating the exhibit at the ROM. The email stated 
that “the San Diego exhibitors set out to confuse the 
public” and described a quoted statement from Dr. 
Kohn defending the exhibit which she had curated as 
“shockingly obscurantist . . . for someone involved in 
creating a museum exhibit at the ROM.” He signed 
those emails “With best regards, Jonathan Seidel.” 

 Using the Seidel email address, defendant also 
sent an email to Dr. Kohn. It contained a link to 
defendant’s (anonymous) blog about Dr. Kohn and 
Michael Hager, the director of the San Diego museum 
where the Scrolls had been exhibited. The blog point-
ed out that Hager had been defending Dr. Kohn and 
the San Diego exhibit. It criticized Hager and Kohn, 
and pointed out that Professor Golb had subjected the 
San Diego exhibit to a “searing critique.” The email 
sought Dr. Kohn’s opinion on the two theories about 
the Scrolls and asked if she was planning to answer 
Professor Golb’s critique. It was signed “With best 
wishes, Jonathan Seidel.” 

 The same day that he sent the email to Dr. Kohn, 
defendant sent another email from “Seidel” to 79 
Dead Sea Scrolls scholars, asking for help in preparing 
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a response to misinformation which was being spread 
around the Internet. He included a link to his anon-
ymous blog, and a link and a quotation from an 
article in the French newspaper Le Monde, which 
defendant (as Seidel) stated was “outrageous.” The 
quote from Le Monde was that “[t]he connection 
between the Essenes, who were thought to have 
written the scrolls, and Qumran has been reduced to 
nothing, just as the major American historian and 
paleographer N. Golb had already written.” The email 
stated that “[t]hese lies about the Chicago filth must 
be answered as quickly as possible, so please let me 
know if you’re willing to help out. . . .” In contrast to 
his email to Dr. Kohn, which promoted the Golb 
theory, this email appears to be calling Professor Golb 
“Chicago filth.” It was signed “Best, Jonathan S.” 
Defendant also used the Seidel email address to 
contact approximately 85 individuals, many of whom 
had university email addresses, urging them to 
“condemn the continuing filth from Chicago, just as 
Dr. Stephen Goranson of Duke University has had 
the courage to do.” That too was signed “Best, Jona-
than S.” 

 
II. 

Criminal Impersonation in the Second Degree 

 Defendant was convicted of 14 counts of criminal 
impersonation in the second degree. A person is guilty 
of this crime when he or she “[i]mpersonates another 
and does an act in such assumed character with 
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intent to obtain a benefit or to injure or defraud 
another” (Penal Law § 190.25 [1]). The criminal 
impersonation counts related to defendant’s actions 
against Schiffman, Goranson, Seidel and Cross. 
Although requested to do so by defendant, the trial 
court did not limit the statutory terms “benefit” or 
“injure” in its charge to the jury. The Appellate Divi-
sion held that “[t]he court was under no obligation to 
limit the definitions of ‘injure’ or ‘defraud’ – terms 
used in the forgery and criminal impersonation 
statutes – to tangible harms such as financial harm” 
(102 AD3d at 602, citing People v Kase, 76 AD2d 532, 
537-538 [1st Dept 1980], aff ’d, 53 NY2d 989 [1981]). 
Defendant maintains that the trial court’s failure to 
properly limit and define the terms “injure” and 
“benefit” constituted reversible error because the jury 
could have interpreted the statute as capturing any 
benefit or harm. Thus, argues defendant, when 
literally anything can be a legally cognizable benefit 
or harm, one can be found guilty of violating this law 
if one, for example, simply causes hurt feelings, 
mocks or criticizes. Similarly, says defendant, a 
benefit could be any gain or advantage, no matter 
how slight. 

 Cases applying Penal Law § 190.25 have tradi-
tionally involved monetary fraud or interference with 
government operations (see e.g. People v Sanchez, 84 
NY2d 440 [1994] [impersonation of an FBI agent]; 
People v Hooks, 71 AD3d 1184 [3d Dept 2010] [after 
damaging victim’s vehicle, defendant called police 
station, identifying herself as victim, informing them 
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that she did not want to press charges]; People v 
Nawrocki, 163 AD2d 887 [4th Dept 1990] [defendant 
used his brother’s name, Social Security number and 
employment status to apply for and receive a loan 
from a finance company]; People v Chive, 189 Misc 2d 
653 [2001] [conviction for falsely identifying oneself to 
police and possession of an altered passport]; People v 
Bentley, 78 Misc 2d 578 [1974] [woman signed a false 
name to a supermarket cash register receipt]; People 
v Diamond, 77 Misc 2d 412 [1974] [conviction for 
seeking to avoid an arrest by impersonating a transit 
authority conductor]). The Appellate Division cited 
People v Kase, 76 AD2d 532 (1st Dept 1980), aff ’d, 53 
NY2d 989 (1981), in support of its holding that “in-
jure” and “defraud” are not limited to tangible harms 
such as financial harms involved in the filing of a 
false instrument. There, Kase argued that Penal Law 
§ 190.25 did not apply where the People had not 
demonstrated that there had been a pecuniary loss to 
the State, and the court disagreed, finding that it is 
sufficient if the fraud impacts the State’s power to 
fulfill its governmental responsibilities (id. at 537). 

 Here, defendant did not cause any pecuniary loss 
or interfere with governmental operations. While we 
agree with defendant that the statutory terms “in-
jure” and “benefit” cannot be construed to apply to 
any injury or benefit, no matter how slight, we con-
clude that injury to reputation is within the “injury” 
contemplated by Penal Law § 190.25. Many people, 
particularly with a career in academia, as relevant to 
this case, value their reputations at least as much as 
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their property,2 and we believe the legislature intend-
ed that the scope of the statute be broad enough to 
capture acts intended to cause injury to reputation. 

 Accordingly, a person may be found guilty of 
criminal impersonation in the second degree if he or 
she impersonates another with the intent to cause a 
tangible, pecuniary injury to another, or the intent to 
interfere with governmental operations (see e.g. 
People v Hooks, 71 AD3d 1184 [3d Dept 2010]; People 
v Nawrocki, 163 AD2d 887 [4th Dept 1990]). In addi-
tion, a person who impersonates someone with the 
intent to harm the reputation of another may be 
found guilty of this crime. Here, there was sufficient 
evidence to support the jury’s finding that defendant’s 
emails impersonating Schiffman, Seidel and Cross 
were more than a prank intended to cause temporary 
embarrassment or discomfiture, and that he acted 
with intent to do real harm. 

 While we affirm most of the criminal impersona-
tion convictions, we hold that the mere creation of 
email accounts in the names of Schiffman, Seidel, 

 
 2 Good name in man and woman, dear my lord, 

Is the immediate jewel of their souls. 
Who steals my purse steals trash. ‘Tis something, nothing: 
‘Twas mine, ‘tis his, and has been slave to thousands. 
But he that filches from me my good name 
Robs me of that which not enriches him 
And makes me poor indeed. 

(Shakespeare, Othello, act III, scene 3.) 
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Goranson and Cross (in contrast to the use of those 
accounts to send emails) does not constitute criminal 
conduct under Penal Law § 190.25. The mere creation 
of email accounts that are not used does no substan-
tial harm to anyone. Additionally, the email sent from 
the Seidel email address to Dr. Kohn, asking her 
opinion on the differing theories about the Scrolls and 
whether she was planning to answer Professor Golb’s 
critique, is insufficient to support a conviction for 
criminal impersonation in the second degree. Unlike 
the other emails, this email sent in another person’s 
name does not prove the requisite intent to cause 
injury, either to reputation or otherwise. Thus, we 
vacate the convictions on those counts. 

 
III. 

Aggravated Harassment in the Second Degree 

 Penal Law § 240.30 (1) (a) provides that “[a] 
person is guilty of aggravated harassment in the 
second degree when, with intent to harass, annoy, 
threaten or alarm another person, he or she . . . 
communicates with a person, anonymously or other-
wise, by telephone, by telegraph, or by mail, or by 
transmitting or delivering any other form of written 
communication, in a manner likely to cause annoy-
ance or alarm.” We agree with defendant that this 
statute is unconstitutionally vague and overbroad, 
and that his conviction of three counts of aggravated 
harassment related to his conduct toward Schiffman, 
Goranson and Cargill must be vacated. 
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 In People v Dietze, 75 NY2d 47 (1989), this Court 
struck down a similar harassment statute, former 
Penal Law § 240.25, which prohibited the use of 
abusive or obscene language with the intent to har-
ass, annoy or alarm another person. We determined 
that the statute was unconstitutional under both the 
State and Federal Constitutions, noting that “any 
proscription of pure speech must be sharply limited to 
words which, by their utterance alone, inflict injury 
or tend naturally to evoke immediate violence” (id. at 
52). 

 The reasoning applied in Dietze applies equally to 
our analysis of Penal Law § 240.30(1)(a). The statute 
criminalizes, in broad strokes, any communication 
that has the intent to annoy. Like the harassment 
statute at issue in Dietze, “no fair reading” of this 
statute’s “unqualified terms supports or even sug-
gests the constitutionally necessary limitations on its 
scope” (id. at 52; see also People v Dupont, 107 AD2d 
247, 253 [1st Dept 1985] [observing that the statute’s 
vagueness is apparent because “(i)t is not clear what 
is meant by communication ‘in a manner likely to 
cause annoyance or alarm’ to another person”]). And, 
as in Dietze, “we decline to incorporate such limita-
tions into the statute by judicial construction” be-
cause that would be “tantamount to wholesale 
revision of the Legislature’s enactment, rather than 
prudent judicial construction” (id. at 52, 53). 

 Three federal judges have already found this 
statute unconstitutional (see Vives v City of New York, 
305 F Supp 2d 289, 299 [SDNY 2003, Scheindlin, J.], 
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rev’d on other grounds, 405 F3d 115 [2d Cir 2005] 
[“where speech is regulated or proscribed based on its 
content, the scope of the effected speech must be 
clearly defined”]; see also Vives, 405 F3d 115, 123-124 
[2d Cir 2005, Cardamone, J., dissenting in part, 
concurring in part] [Penal Law § 240.30(1) unconsti-
tutional on its face and as applied]; Schlagler v Phil-
lips, 985 F Supp 419, 421 [SDNY 1997, Brieant, J.], 
rev’d on other grounds, 166 F3d 439 [2d Cir 1999] 
[statute is “utterly repugnant to the First Amend-
ment of the United States Constitution and also 
unconstitutional for vagueness”]). 

 Accordingly, we conclude that Penal Law 
§ 240.30(1) is unconstitutional under both the State 
and Federal Constitutions, and we vacate defendant’s 
convictions on these counts. 

 
IV. 

The Convictions for Forgery in the  
Third Degree, Identity Theft in the Second  

Degree and Unauthorized Use of a Computer 

 “A person is guilty of forgery in the third degree 
when, with intent to defraud, deceive or injure 
another, he falsely makes, completes or alters a 
written instrument” (Penal Law § 170.05). There was 
sufficient evidence to show that defendant deceived 
people by sending emails from accounts in the names 
of Schiffman, Seidel and Cross, and accordingly we 
affirm his convictions on those counts. 
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 However, we vacate the convictions on the re-
maining counts of unauthorized use of a computer 
and identity theft in the second degree. Under Penal 
Law § 156.05, “[a] person is guilty of unauthorized 
use of a computer when he or she knowingly uses, 
causes to be used, or accesses a computer, computer 
service, or computer network without authorization.” 
The term “without authorization” is defined as “to 
access a computer . . . without the permission of the 
owner . . . or after actual notice to such person that 
such use or access was without permission. . . .” 
(Penal Law § 156.00 [8].) 

 Defendant asserts that he had permission to 
access the NYU computers as an alumnus who joined 
the “Friends of Bobst Library Program.” The People 
argue that using the computer to commit a crime 
cannot be an authorized use. However, the definitions 
and wording of the statute and the legislative history 
indicate that the statute is intended to reach a person 
who accesses a computer system without permission 
(i.e., a hacker) and the language does not appear to 
encompass defendant’s conduct here. “[I]f two con-
structions of a criminal statute are plausible, the one 
more favorable to the defendant should be adopted in 
accordance with the rule of lenity” (People v Green, 68 
NY2d 151, 153 [1986] [internal quotation marks and 
citation omitted]). Thus, the People did not sustain 
their burden of proof that defendant was guilty of 
unauthorized use of the NYU computers, and we 
therefore vacate defendant’s conviction under Penal 
Law § 156.05. 
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 Lastly, as pertinent here, a person commits 
identity theft in the second degree “when he or she 
knowingly and with intent to defraud assumes the 
identity of another person by presenting himself or 
herself as that other person, or by acting as that 
other person or by using personal identifying infor-
mation of that other person, and thereby” “commits or 
attempts to commit a felony” (Penal Law § 190.79 
[3]). The attempted felony at issue here is first-degree 
falsifying of the business records of NYU. That crime 
is committed when a person “commits the crime of 
falsifying business records in the second degree, and 
when his intent to defraud includes an intent to 
commit another crime or to aid or conceal the com-
mission thereof ” (Penal Law § 175.10). According to 
the People, defendant sought to falsify NYU business 
records by manufacturing a subtle admission of 
plagiarism purportedly from Schiffman, with the 
intent that NYU would open an investigation of 
Schiffman. Although defendant sent damning emails 
in Schiffman’s name to NYU addresses, that does not 
constitute the creation or falsification of an NYU 
business record that is “kept or maintained by an 
enterprise for the purpose of evidencing or reflecting 
its condition or activity” and the People have not 
pointed to any proof that defendant falsified any such 
records (Penal Law § 175.00 [2]). Because there is 
insufficient evidence to support this conviction, it 
must be vacated. 

 Accordingly, the order of the Appellate Division 
should be modified by vacating the convictions for 
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counts 2, 3, 5, 23, 29, 40, 42, 44, 48, and 51, dismiss-
ing those counts of the indictment, and remitting to 
Supreme Court for resentencing, and, as so modified, 
affirmed. 

 
 Chief Judge Lippman (concurring in part and 
dissenting in part). It would be difficult to find the 
conduct by defendant detailed in the majority opinion 
admirable. But our very different task is to decide 
whether that conduct was properly treated as crimi-
nal. While I see no constitutional impediment to 
prosecuting conduct similar to defendant’s targeting 
Professor Schiffman as second degree identity theft – 
which requires for its proof evidence of intent to cause 
highly specific injury of a non-reputational sort – the 
particular counts of identity theft with which defen-
dant was charged in the indictment’s top two counts 
were not sufficiently proved. 

 Turning to the remaining welter of convictions – 
all for misdemeanors – I agree with the majority that 
defendant’s convictions for aggravated harassment 
must be vacated and the corresponding counts of the 
indictment dismissed, since the statute under which 
those convictions were obtained, Penal Law 
§ 240.30(1)(a), is unconstitutionally overbroad. I also 
agree that there was a failure of proof as to whether 
defendant’s use of NYU computers was unauthorized 
within the meaning of Penal Law § 156.05. I, howev-
er, part company with the majority as to its dismissal of 
only some of the indictment’s criminal impersonation 
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counts and its determination to leave defendant’s 
third-degree forgery convictions undisturbed. 

 In dismissing some, but not all, of the second-
degree criminal impersonation (Penal Law § 190.25) 
counts, the majority expresses the view that, in 
addition to addressing impersonation intended to 
cause economic injury or to interfere with govern-
ment operations – the objectives traditionally under-
stood to inform the misdemeanor – the crime may 
also be premised on an intent to cause reputational 
injury. The statute, the majority holds, should be read 
to protect reputation when more than a prank is 
involved, since many people value reputation more 
than money, and since, as Iago in a moment of famous 
irony remarks to Othello, “he that filches from me my 
good name Robs me of that which not enriches him 
And makes me poor indeed.” There is, of course, 
nothing in the language of the statute to prevent its 
use in the manner proposed by the majority – but 
that is the problem. The statute, as written, allows a 
criminal conviction for impersonation provided only 
that it is meant to be harmful or beneficial in any 
way. It is hard to imagine any pseudonymous com-
munication that could not be prosecuted under this 
statute. And, in an age in which pseudonymous 
communication has become ubiquitous, particularly 
on the Internet, this statute, literally understood, 
criminalizes a vast amount of speech that the First 
Amendment protects. 
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 The problem of the statute’s substantial 
overbreadth is not obviated by the Court’s pro-
nouncement that the enactment should not be under-
stood to criminalize conduct not intended to cause 
“real harm.” Apart from the fact that the distinction 
the majority has drawn does not render the statute 
benign, since many things said using an assumed 
identity are constitutionally protected from civil or 
criminal sanction, even though they are more than 
pranks and are intended to cause real harm or to 
obtain real benefit,* this prosecution’s use of the 
statute was not limited in the way the Court now 
says it should have been. 

  Although defendant, after the denial of his 
motion to dismiss on the ground, among others, of 
statutory overbreadth, sought to have the jury 
charged so as to limit the statute’s reach, the trial 
court’s charge did not do that and there is no basis 
now to suppose that the convictions at issue were 
rendered in observance of the distinction this Court 
has retrospectively drawn; five of the criminal imper-
sonation convictions concededly were not, and it is 
entirely speculative that the remaining nine were. 

 The problem with the criminal impersonation 
convictions is not that they were insufficiently sup-
ported. The evidence as to each of the counts was 

 
 * It is difficult to imagine, for example, that an ill-intended, 
pseudonymously uttered comment about Iago or his modern 
equivalent would be actionable civilly, much less criminally. 
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more than adequate to prove the offense as defined in 
the statute and as charged. The reason that the 
convictions must be vacated and the corresponding 
counts dismissed is rather that the statute under 
which they were obtained is unconstitutionally broad, 
and substantially so. 

 The use of the third-degree forgery statute (Penal 
Law § 170.05) to the same end as the criminal imper-
sonation statute is, I believe, similarly objectionable. 
Treating pseudonymous emails as forgeries when 
they are made with some intent to “injure” in some 
undefined way is no different than penalizing imper-
sonation in Internet communication for the same 
amorphous purpose. Both treatments give prosecu-
tors power they should not have to determine what 
speech should and should not be penalized. 

 If defendant has caused reputational injury, that 
is redressable, if at all, as a civil tort, not as a crime. 
Criminal libel has long since been abandoned (see 
Garrison v Louisiana, 379 US 64, 69 [1964]), not least 
of all because of its tendency in practice to penalize 
and chill speech that the constitution protects (see 
Ashton v Kentucky, 384 US 195, 200-201 [1966]), and 
it has been decades since New York’s criminal libel 
statute was repealed. The use of the criminal imper-
sonation and forgery statutes now approved amounts 
to an atavism at odds with the First Amendment and 
the free and uninhibited exchange of ideas it is meant 
to foster. 

 I would dismiss the indictment in its entirety. 
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 Judges Graffeo, Read, Smith, Pigott and Rivera 
concur with Judge Abdus-Salaam; Chief Judge 
Lippman dissents in part in an opinion. 

 Order modified by vacating the conviction on 
counts 2, 3, 5, 23, 29, 40, 42, 44, 48 and 51 of the 
indictment, dismissing those counts of the indict-
ment, and remitting the case to Supreme Court, New 
York County, for resentencing and, as so modified, 
affirmed. 
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102 A.D.3d 601, 960 N.Y.S.2d 66, 2013 WL 322575, 
2013 N.Y. Slip Op. 00436 

The People of the State of New York, Respondent 
v 

Raphael Golb, Appellant. 
Supreme Court, Appellate Division, 

First Department, New York 

January 29, 2013 

 Judgment, Supreme Court, New York County 
(Carol Berkman, J.), rendered November 18, 2010, 
convicting defendant, after a jury trial, of identity 
theft in the second degree (two counts), criminal 
impersonation in the second degree (14 counts), 
forgery in the third degree (10 counts), aggravated 
harassment in the second degree (three counts), and 
unauthorized use of a computer, and sentencing him 
to an aggregate term of six months, unanimously 
modified, on the law and facts, to the extent of vacat-
ing the identity theft conviction under the first count 
of the indictment and dismissing that count, and 
otherwise affirmed. The matter is remitted to Su-
preme Court, New York County, for further proceed-
ings pursuant to CPL 460.50 (5). 

 Defendant’s convictions arise out of his use of 
emails to impersonate actual persons. Nothing in this 
prosecution, or in the court’s jury charge, violated 
defendant’s First Amendment or other constitutional 
rights. 
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 Defendant is the son of an expert on the Dead 
Sea Scrolls. Defendant set up email accounts in which 
he pretended to be other scholars who disagreed with 
defendant’s father’s opinion on the origin of the 
Scrolls. Among other things, defendant sent emails in 
which one of his father’s rivals purportedly admitted 
to acts of plagiarism. 

 Defendant’s principal defense was that these 
emails were only intended to be satiric hoaxes or 
pranks. However, as it has been observed in the 
context of trademark law, “[a] parody must convey 
two simultaneous – and contradictory – messages: 
that it is the original, but also that it is not the origi-
nal and is instead a parody” (Cliffs Notes, Inc. v 
Bantam Doubleday Dell Pub. Group, Inc., 886 F2d 
490, 494 [2d Cir 1989] [emphasis omitted]). Here, the 
evidence clearly established that defendant never 
intended any kind of parody. Instead, he only intend-
ed to convey the first message to the readers of the 
emails, that is, that the purported authors were the 
actual authors. It was equally clear that defendant 
intended that the recipients’ reliance on this decep-
tion would cause harm to the purported authors and 
benefits to defendant or his father. 

 The court’s charge, which incorporated many of 
defendant’s requests, fully protected his constitution-
al rights, and the court was not required to grant 
defendant’s requests for additional instructions. The 
court carefully informed the jury that academic 
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discussion, parody, satire and the use of pseudonyms 
were protected by the First Amendment. 

 The court also ensured that the jury understood 
the terms “fraud” and “defraud” by expanding their 
definition and advised the jury that “without the 
intent to deceive or defraud as to the source of the 
speech with the intent to reap a benefit from that 
deceit, there is no crime.” The court was under no 
obligation to limit the definitions of “injure” or “de-
fraud” – terms used in the forgery and criminal 
impersonation statutes – to tangible harms such as 
financial harm (see People v Kase, 76 AD2d 532, 537-
538 [1st Dept 1980], aff ’d, 53 NY2d 989 [1981]). The 
court also properly employed the statutory definition 
of “benefit” as “any gain or advantage” to defendant 
or to another person (Penal Law § 10.00 [17]). 

 Defendant argues that it is constitutionally 
impermissible to include an intent to influence a 
constitutionally-protected academic debate within the 
concept of fraud, injury or benefit, that allowing 
injury to reputation to satisfy the injury element 
would effectively revive the long-abandoned offense of 
criminal libel, and that, in any event, the alleged 
truth of the content of the emails should have been 
permitted as a defense. However, the evidence estab-
lished that defendant intended harm that fell within 
the plain meaning of the term “injure,” and that was 
not protected by the First Amendment, including 
damage to the careers and livelihoods of the scholars 
he impersonated. Defendant also intended to create 
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specific benefits for his father’s career. The fact that 
the underlying dispute between defendant and his 
father’s rivals was a constitutionally-protected debate 
does not provide any First Amendment protection for 
acts that were otherwise unlawful. 

 Defendant was not prosecuted for the content of 
any of the emails, but only for giving the false im-
pression that his victims were the actual authors of 
the emails. The First Amendment protects the right 
to criticize another person, but it does not permit 
anyone to give an intentionally false impression that 
the source of the message is that other person (see 
SMJ Group, Inc. v 417 Lafayette Rest. LLC, 439 F 
Supp 2d 281 [SDNY 2006]). 

 We have considered and rejected defendant’s 
remaining arguments concerning the court’s charge. 
We similarly reject his claims that the statutes under 
which he was convicted were unconstitutionally 
vague or overbroad. None of these statutes was vague 
or overbroad on its face or as applied (see People v 
Shack, 86 NY2d 529, 538 [1995]; Broadrick v Okla-
homa, 413 US 601, 611-616 [1973]). The People were 
required to prove that defendant had the specific 
fraudulent intent to deceive email recipients about 
his identity, and to obtain benefits or cause injuries 
as a result of the recipients’ reliance on that decep-
tion. The statutes criminalized the act of impersona-
tion and its unlawful intent, not the content of speech 
falsely imputed to the victims. 
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 The verdict was based on legally sufficient evi-
dence and was not against the weight of the evidence, 
with the exception of the identity theft conviction 
under the first count. The theory of that count was 
that in the commission of identity theft in the second 
degree (Penal Law § 190.79 [3]), defendant attempted 
to commit the felony of scheme to defraud in the first 
degree (Penal Law § 190.65 [1] [b]). However, there 
was no evidence that defendant intended to defraud 
one or more persons of property in excess of $1,000 or 
that he attempted to do so (see id.). The People’s 
assertions in this regard rest on speculation. Concur 
– Mazzarelli, J.P., Renwick, Richter, Gische and 
Clark, JJ. 
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  [5] MR. KUBY: I have repeatedly requested 
of Mr. Bandler and on one occasion I’ve requested the 
court to direct Mr. Bandler to provide us with a 
simple declarative statement of what the intended 
object of the alleged fraud is of the 47 counts in the 
indictment, 47 of the 51 counts of the indictment, 
each one of which has the element of either fraud 
which is a gain or a loss or has the element of causing 
a harm, presumably a legally cognizable one or 
gaining some sort of a benefit, and I’ve repeatedly 
asked and I ask again now that we’re literally on the 
morning of trial for Mr. Bandler to tell us what it is 
he intends to prove that the defendant intended to do; 
that is what was the object of the fraud, of the harm, 
of the benefit, of the gain, because as the court said 
from reviewing the Grand Jury minutes a number of 
possible benefits occurred to you and indeed a num-
ber of possible benefits of harm occurred to me, but I 
have no idea of the universe of the possible harms or 
benefits which he intends to prove. 

  THE COURT: This is very interesting, Mr. 
Kuby, it’s a little late in litigation on discovery num-
ber one, and number two, I am not aware of any 
requirement that the People specify what the gain is, 
just like they don’t have to specify what the object 
crime is in a burglary crime [6] case. If they do, of 
course, they’re bound by it, so the People being so 
happy without constraints in our society, although 
Mr. Bandler is probably an exception to that rule, I 
suspect strongly that he doesn’t care to specify. 

 Would that be correct, Mr. Bandler? 
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  MR. BANDLER: I think we’ve specified it 
more than is required by the statute and it’s laid out 
in the motion practice and in the Voluntary Disclo-
sure Form. 

  MR. KUBY: And Mr. Bandler has said that 
sort of repeatedly that we’ve already specified, we’ve 
already told so we’re not going to tell you again. 
Maybe I’m just dumb, but if he would be willing to – 

  THE COURT: I’m willing to entertain that 
consideration, Mr. Kuby, but I am not willing to 
discuss this issue any further. I don’t believe he has 
to specify at all. 

  MR. KUBY: Note my objection. It’s a matter 
of due process. I think it’s a right of information, a 
right to prepare a defense. 

  THE COURT: Sure. 

*    *    * 
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*    *    * 

  [1278] [THE COURT:] Now the first two 
counts charge Identity Theft in the Second Degree 
under slightly different theories. 

 A person is guilty of Identity Theft in the Second 
Degree when he knowingly, and with intent to de-
fraud, assumes the identity of another person by 
presenting himself as that other person, or by acting 
as that other person or by using personal identifying 
information of that other [1279] person, and thereby 
commits or attempts to commit a felony. 
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 So the object felony alleged with respect to Count 
1 is Scheme to Defraud in the First Degree and the 
object felony with respect to Count 2 is Falsifying 
Business Records in the First Degree. And I’ll start to 
define all of those terms for you. 

 A person knowingly assumes the identity of 
another person when that person is aware that he 
has assumed the identity of that other person. 

 Intent means conscious objective or purpose. 

 A person acts with the intent to defraud when his 
conscious objective or purpose is to deceive or trick 
another with intent to deprive that person of his or 
her right or in some manner to do him or her an 
injury. 

 The word defraud to give you a dictionary defini-
tion means to practice fraud, to cheat or trick, to 
deprive a person of property or any interest or right 
by fraud, deceit, or artifice. So the meaning of fraud 
both in its legal usage and in its common usage is the 
same, a deliberately planned purpose and intent to 
cheat, or deceive, or unlawfully deprive someone of 
some advantage, benefit, or property. 

 To defraud is to intentionally use. 

*    *    * 

  [1280] [THE COURT:] There have been 
numerous references during this trial to the First 
Amendment, to free academic discussion, to parody, 
which for a dictionary definition is the close imitation 
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of the style of an author or a work for comic effect or 
in ridicule, and to satire, which is a form of humor 
where a writer tries to make the reader have a nega-
tive opinion of another by laughing at that person or 
making that person seem ridiculous or foolish, and 
the like. 

 Now in this country as I’m sure you all know, we 
zealously protect the right to speak freely, whether 
under one’s own name or anonymously, or even under 
a fake name, or a pseudonym. We zealously protect 
that right whether the speech is correct or incorrect, 
truthful or not, derogatory or positive. 

 [1281] So focusing for the moment on the crimi-
nal impersonation charges, without the intent to 
deceive or defraud as to the source of the speech with 
the intent to reap a benefit from that deceit, there is 
no crime. 

 So, in other words, Tina Fey is free to keep doing 
her famous Sarah Palin imitation without the danger 
of criminal impersonation. 

  SWORN JUROR: I don’t take notes as 
quickly as you’re speaking. Those definitions, do we 
get a copy of those? 

  THE COURT: No. You ask me and I’ll give 
it to you again. I’ll try to slow down. 

 Now as I said, we have freedom of speech but 
words can be the tools by which crimes are commit-
ted, as, for very obvious example, when a robber says, 
Your money or your life, the First Amendment doesn’t 
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protect that. Words by a means which this person 
threatens you to take your property or Bernie 
Madoff ’s fraud, in large part was made with words. 

 So the questions for you are not the legal issues 
of freedom of speech under the First Amendment to 
the United States Constitution, but rather whether 
the elements of a charged crime have been proved 
beyond a reasonable doubt. 

*    *    * 

  [1286] [THE COURT:] Criminal Impersona-
tion in the Second Degree and we have a lists of 
counts here 5, 7, 10, 13, 16, 19, 23, 25, 29, 33, 37, 42, 
44, 46, and 50 charge Criminal Impersonation in the 
Second Degree under the theory that the defendant 
intentionally impersonated an actual person. 

 [1287] A person is guilty of Criminal Impersona-
tion in the Second Degree when he knowingly imper-
sonates a specific other person and acts in such 
assumed character with intent to obtain a benefit or 
to injure or defraud another. 

 A benefit means any gain or advantage to the 
beneficiary and includes any gain or advantage to a 
third person pursuant to the desire or consent of the 
beneficiary. Any gain or advantage to the beneficiary 
including any gain or advantage to a third person 
pursuant to the desire or consent of the beneficiary. 

 In order for you to find the defendant guilty of 
this crime, the People must prove beyond a reasona-
ble doubt the following three elements: 
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 One, that on or about the date or dates specified 
in the county of New York, the defendant knowingly 
impersonated another real person. 

 Two, that the defendant acted in such assumed 
character with the intent to obtain a benefit or to 
injure or defraud another. I guess I can’t count be-
cause I keep saying the wrong number of elements. 
So it’s the knowing impersonation and the intent to 
obtain a benefit or to injure or defraud another. 

 Forgery in the Third Degree and that’s Count 8, 
11, 14, 17, 20, 27, 31, 35, 39, and 47 charge Forgery in 
the Third Degree. 

 [1288] A person is guilty of Forgery in the Third 
Degree when, with the intent to defraud, deceive, or 
injure another, he falsely makes, completes, or alters 
a written instrument. 

 A written instrument means any instrument or 
article, including computer data, containing written 
or printed matter, or the equivalent thereof, used for 
the purpose of reciting, embodying, conveying, or 
recording information which is capable of being used 
to the advantage or disadvantage of some person. 

 A person falsely makes a written instrument 
when he makes or draws a written instrument, which 
purports to be an authentic creation of its ostensible 
maker or drawer, but which is not such either be-
cause the ostensible maker or drawer is fictitious or 
because, if real, he or she did not authorize the mak-
ing or drawing thereof. 
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 So we have two elements: 

 One, that on or about the date or dates specified 
in the county of New York, the defendant falsely 
made, completed, or altered a written instrument. 

 And, second, that the defendant did so with the 
intent to defraud, deceive, or injure another. 

*    *    * 

  [1290] [THE COURT:] Do we need to speak 
before I conclude? 

  [1291] MR. KUBY: Only reiterate the 
matters what were reiterated earlier, Judge. 

  THE COURT: Thank you. We’ll take that 
as read. 

*    *    * 

  [1292] MR. KUBY: My cryptic reference on 
the record obviously was to the repeat of my earlier 
objections and my objection to the court overruling 
my proposed language. Thank you. 

*    *    * 

  [1293] THE COURT: Case on trial. Counsel 
and the defendant are present. The jurors are not 
present. 

 The first note sent in by the jurors asked for 
exhibits 60-A through C and all the e-mail binders. It 
was at one o’clock. I directed that they should have 
those. 
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 Then the other notes which everybody has had a 
chance to read ask for a definition of falsifying busi-
ness records and a read back of Mr. Bandler’s sum-
mations re exhibits to match up to the counts. We 
want Criminal Impersonation in the Second Degree 
defined and define Forgery in the Third Degree. 

*    *    * 

  [1301] [THE COURT:] Criminal Imperson-
ation in the Second Degree, a person is guilty of 
Criminal Impersonation in the Second Degree when 
he knowingly impersonates a specific other person, 
other real person, I should say, and acts in such 
assumed character with intent to obtain a benefit or 
to injure or defraud another. 

 A person is guilty of Forgery in the Third Degree 
when, with the intent to defraud, deceive, or injure 
another, he falsely makes, completes, or alters a 
written instrument. 

 So let me send you back in and send me a note if 
you want the other definition right away otherwise 
I’ll wait for your command. 

*    *    * 
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BERKMAN, J: 

 Defendant is charged with two counts of identity 
theft in the second degree, fifteen counts of identity 
theft in the third degree, ten counts of forgery in the 
third degree, fifteen counts of criminal impersonation 
in the second degree, P.L.§190.25(1), five counts 
of criminal impersonation in the second degree, 
P.L.§190.25(4), three counts of aggravated harass-
ment in the second degree, P.L.§240.30(1)(a) and one 
count of unauthorized use of a computer. Defendant 
has asserted, inter alia, that the prosecution violates 
the right to freedom of speech, and seeks to contro-
vert the search warrants on various grounds. 

 Leaving aside the standing issues with respect to 
the motion to controvert the search warrants, defen-
dant’s complaints as to allegedly material omissions 
(such as the failure to state that – as every holder of 
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an email account knows – a user can choose any 
name for such an account) and material misstate-
ments (primarily about the history of the Dead Sea 
Scrolls and related scholarship) are without merit. 
The warrants were issued on probable cause. The 
motion to controvert is in all respects denied. 

 As this court has previously ruled, the evidence 
before the grand jury was factually sufficient and the 
proceedings procedurally proper. Upon reviewing the 
submissions of counsel, the court adheres to that 
ruling. 

 It is virtually impossible – and legally unneces-
sary – for this court to address all of the myriad of 
arguments raised by the defense at this point. Suffice 
it to say that the trial of the charges in this indict-
ment will not resolve the controversy in the world of 
Dead Sea Scroll scholarship or even the issue (for 
example) of whether the accusation of plagiarism 
against one of the complainants is accurate.1 

 
 1 It is this court’s view that the “truth” of the Dead Sea 
Scrolls controversy or of the claims in the blogs or emails 
allegedly created by defendant is not relevant to any issue 
actually presented in this case, or as to any issue presented 
by this motion, whether the freedom of speech claims or the 
propriety of the warrants or the sufficiency of the evidence. As 
the defendant correctly argues in this motion, there is no longer 
a criminal penalty for libel, and neither good faith nor truth is a 
defense to any of the crimes charged here. Accordingly, absent a 
persuasive offer of proof in this regard, this court declines to 
enter into this fray. 
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 With respect to the First Amendment challenges, 
the People do not disagree with defendant that there 
is a constitutional right to speak anonymously or 
pseudonymously. The gravamen of the identity-theft 
and related charges, however, is the intentional 
assumption of specific identities of actual people – to 
wit, “individuals within and around the Dead Sea 
Scrolls community, namely Dr. Schiffman, Dr. Jona-
than Seidel, Dr. Stephen Goranson, Dr. Frank Cross, 
and Jeffrey Gibson” (People’s response, ¶31) – with 
the requisite intent to obtain a “benefit,” as the 
statute broadly defines that term. As the People 
assert, “a reasonable view of the evidence indicates 
that defendant did not pick these names by mere 
‘coincidence’ ” (People’s response, ¶52). From the 
evidence, various “benefits” suggest themselves, but 
there is no requirement that the benefit be financial 
or that the People specify further.2 People v. Mackey, 
49 N.Y.2d 274 (burglary). 

 With respect to the aggravated harassment 
counts, the constitutional challenge is more viable. 
This is particularly so as to any count or counts 
depending on proof of indirect communications. 
People v. Dupont, 107 A.D.2d, 247, 252.3 Nonetheless, 

 
 2 The defendant’s factual arguments are not pertinent here, 
either to the warrant or sufficiency issues. 
 3 Dupont’s reference to “communications transmitted 
directly to the complainant,” at 252, is dictum, and thus does not 
mandate dismissal on that ground. Nor, contrary to defendant’s 
argument, at page 8 of the Memorandum of Law (Counts 3, 40 
and 48), has Dupont been read as striking down the statute. 

(Continued on following page) 
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the statute has repeatedly been held constitutional on 
its face. E.g., People v. Cooper, 4 Misc.3d 788 (District 
Court, Nassau Cy), and cases therein cited. The final 
determination of this issue can and should be de-
ferred until the development of a full trial record. Nor 
will this unfairly impact on the defendant’s right to a 
fair trial. First of all, it is plain that the evidence with 
respect to the harassment counts, if not identical to 
the evidence of the other charges, is very similar. 
That evidence is in any event part of the narrative of 
the events relating to this prosecution and relevant at 
least to the required mens rea for all of the charges. 
Further, even as to the indirect harassment, this case 
is distinguishable from DuPont, as the evidence 
before the grand jury supports the inference that the 
communications initiated by defendant were targeted 
with the intent of having specific others communicate 
with the victim, and thus intentionally causing that 
victim annoyance and alarm. People v. Kochanowski, 
186 Misc.2d 441 (App.Term 2nd Dep’t). 

 The charge of unauthorized use of a computer is 
proper. 

 The court declines to issue an advisory opinion as 
to what defendant may or may not do under the order 
of protection in terms of his participation in the 

 
Indeed, there have been successful prosecutions since Dupont 
with a case by case analysis of the constitutional issues, and 
since People v. Dietze, 75 N.Y.2d 47 (a case also relied on by 
defendant to support his claim that the harassment charges are 
unconstitutionally brought). 
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academic debate in which he is so interested. The 
best remedy for his uncertainty in this respect is a 
speedy trial, which this court strongly encourages. 

 The foregoing constitutes the order and opinion 
of the court. 

Dated: New York, New York  
 February 11, 2010 

_________________________ 
  CAROL BERKMAN 
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State of New York 
Court of Appeals 

Decided and Entered on the  
fourth day of September, 2014 

Present, HON. JONATHAN LIPPMAN, Chief Judge, 
presiding. 

Mo. No. 2014-633 
The People &c., 
      Respondent, 
    v. 
Raphael Golb, 
      Appellant. 

 
 Appellant having moved for reargument to the 
Court of Appeals in the above cause; 

 Upon the papers filed and due deliberation, it is 

 ORDERED, that the motion is denied. 

 /s/ Andrew W. Klein
  Andrew W. Klein

Clerk of the Court 
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Relevant Statutes Involved 

New York Penal Law § 170.05 Forgery in the 
third degree 

A person is guilty of forgery in the third degree when, 
with intent to defraud, deceive or injure another, he 
falsely makes, completes or alters a written instru-
ment. 

Forgery in the third degree is a class A misdemeanor. 

 
New York Penal Law § 190.25 Criminal imper-
sonation in the second degree 

A person is guilty of criminal impersonation in the 
second degree when he: 

1. Impersonates another and does an act in such 
assumed character with intent to obtain a benefit or 
to injure or defraud another; or 

2. Pretends to be a representative of some person or 
organization and does an act in such pretended 
capacity with intent to obtain a benefit or to injure or 
defraud another; or 

3. (a) Pretends to be a public servant, or wears or 
displays without authority any uniform, badge, 
insignia or facsimile thereof by which such public 
servant is lawfully distinguished, or falsely expresses 
by his words or actions that he is a public servant or 
is acting with approval or authority of a public agency 
or department; and (b) so acts with intent to induce 
another to submit to such pretended official authority, 
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to solicit funds or to otherwise cause another to act in 
reliance upon that pretense. 

4. Impersonates another by communication by 
internet website or electronic means with intent to 
obtain a benefit or injure or defraud another, or by 
such communication pretends to be a public servant 
in order to induce another to submit to such authority 
or act in reliance on such pretense. 

Criminal impersonation in the second degree is a 
class A misdemeanor. 
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SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK 
COUNTY OF NEW YORK 
 

THE PEOPLE OF THE  
STATE OF NEW YORK 

-against- 

RAPHAEL GOLB, 

          Defendant. 

 
 

 
*    *    * 

SEVENTH COUNT: 

 AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this 
indictment, further accuse the defendant of the crime 
of CRIMINAL IMPERSONATION IN THE SEC-
OND DEGREE, in violation of Penal Law §190.25(1), 
committed as follows: 

 The defendant, in the County of New York, on or 
about August 4, 2008, impersonated another, to wit 
Lawrence Schiffman, and did an act in such assumed 
character with intent to obtain a benefit and to injure 
and defraud another. 

 
EIGHTH COUNT: 

 AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this 
indictment, further accuse the defendant of the crime 
of FORGERY IN THE THIRD DEGREE, in viola-
tion of Penal Law §170.05, committed as follows: 
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 The defendant, in the County of New York, on or 
about August 4, 2008, with intent to defraud, deceive 
and injury [sic] another, falsely made, completed and 
altered a written instrument. 

*    *    * 

TENTH COUNT: 

 AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this 
indictment, further accuse the defendant of the crime 
of CRIMINAL IMPERSONATION IN THE SEC-
OND DEGREE, in violation of Penal Law §190.25(1), 
committed as follows: 

 The defendant, in the County of New York, on or 
about August 5, 2008, impersonated another, to wit 
Lawrence Schiffman, and did an act in such assumed 
character with intent to obtain a benefit and to injure 
and defraud another. 

 
ELEVENTH COUNT: 

 AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this 
indictment, further accuse the defendant of the crime 
of FORGERY IN THE THIRD DEGREE, in viola-
tion of Penal Law §170.05, committed as follows: 

 The defendant, in the County of New York, on or 
about August 5, 2008, with intent to defraud, deceive 
and injury [sic] another, falsely made, completed and 
altered a written instrument. 

*    *    * 
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THIRTEENTH COUNT: 

 AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this 
indictment, further accuse the defendant of the crime 
of CRIMINAL IMPERSONATION IN THE SEC-
OND DEGREE, in violation of Penal Law §190.25(1), 
committed as follows: 

 The defendant, in the County of New York, on or 
about August 5, 2008, impersonated another, to wit 
Lawrence Schiffman, and did an act in such assumed 
character with intent to obtain a benefit and to injure 
and defraud another. 

 
FOURTEENTH COUNT: 

 AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this 
indictment, further accuse the defendant of the crime 
of FORGERY IN THE THIRD DEGREE, in viola-
tion of Penal Law §170.05, committed as follows: 

 The defendant, in the County of New York, on or 
about August 5, 2008, with intent to defraud, deceive 
and injury [sic] another, falsely made, completed and 
altered a written instrument. 

*    *    * 

SIXTEENTH COUNT: 

 AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this 
indictment, further accuse the defendant of the crime 
of CRIMINAL IMPERSONATION IN THE SEC-
OND DEGREE, in violation of Penal Law §190.25(1), 
committed as follows: 
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 The defendant, in the County of New York, on or 
about August 5, 2008, impersonated another, to wit 
Lawrence Schiffman, and did an act in such assumed 
character with intent to obtain a benefit and to injure 
and defraud another. 

 
SEVENTEENTH COUNT: 

 AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this 
indictment, further accuse the defendant of the crime 
of FORGERY IN THE THIRD DEGREE, in viola-
tion of Penal Law §170.05, committed as follows: 

 The defendant, in the County of New York, on or 
about August 5, 2008, with intent to defraud, deceive 
and injury [sic] another, falsely made, completed and 
altered a written instrument. 

*    *    * 

NINETEENTH COUNT: 

 AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this 
indictment, further accuse the defendant of the crime 
of CRIMINAL IMPERSONATION IN THE SEC-
OND DEGREE, in violation of Penal Law §190.25(1), 
committed as follows: 

 The defendant, in the County of New York, on or 
about August 6, 2008, impersonated another, to wit 
Lawrence Schiffman, and did an act in such assumed 
character with intent to obtain a benefit and to injure 
and defraud another. 
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TWENTIETH COUNT: 

 AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this 
indictment, further accuse the defendant of the crime 
of FORGERY IN THE THIRD DEGREE, in viola-
tion of Penal Law §170.05, committed as follows: 

 The defendant, in the County of New York, on or 
about August 6, 2008, with intent to defraud, deceive 
and injury [sic] another, falsely made, completed and 
altered a written instrument. 

*    *    * 

TWENTY-FIFTH COUNT: 

 AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this 
indictment, further accuse the defendant of the crime 
of CRIMINAL IMPERSONATION IN THE SEC-
OND DEGREE, in violation of Penal Law §190.25(1), 
committed as follows: 

 The defendant, in the County of New York, on or 
about November 22, 2008, impersonated another, to 
wit Jonathan Seidel, and did an act in such assumed 
character with intent to obtain a benefit and to injure 
and defraud another. 

*    *    * 

TWENTY-SEVENTH COUNT: 

 AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this 
indictment, further accuse the defendant of the crime 
of FORGERY IN THE THIRD DEGREE, in viola-
tion of Penal Law §170.05, committed as follows: 
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 The defendant, in the County of New York, on or 
about November 22, 2008, with intent to defraud, 
deceive and injury [sic] another, falsely made, com-
pleted and altered a written instrument. 

*    *    * 

THIRTY-FIRST COUNT: 

 THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this in-
dictment, further accuse the defendant of the crime of 
FORGERY IN THE THIRD DEGREE, in violation 
of Penal Law §170.05, committed as follows: 

 The defendant, in the County of New York, on or 
about November 24, 2008, with intent to defraud, 
deceive and injury [sic] another, falsely made, com-
pleted and altered a written instrument. 

*    *    * 

THIRTY-THIRD COUNT: 

 AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this 
indictment, further accuse the defendant of the 
crime of CRIMINAL IMPERSONATION IN THE 
SECOND DEGREE, in violation of Penal Law 
§190.25(1), committed as follows: 

 The defendant, in the County of New York, on or 
about November 24, 2008, impersonated another, to 
wit Jonathan Seidel, and did an act in such assumed 
character with intent to obtain a benefit and to injure 
and defraud another. 

*    *    * 
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THIRTY-FIFTH COUNT: 

 AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this 
indictment, further accuse the defendant of the crime 
of FORGERY IN THE THIRD DEGREE, in viola-
tion of Penal Law §170.05, committed as follows: 

 The defendant, in the County of New York, on or 
about November 24, 2008, with intent to defraud, 
deceive and injury [sic] another, falsely made, com-
pleted and altered a written instrument.  

*    *    * 

THIRTY-SEVENTH COUNT: 

 AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this 
indictment, further accuse the defendant of the crime 
of CRIMINAL IMPERSONATION IN THE SEC-
OND DEGREE, in violation of Penal Law §190.25(1), 
committed as follows: 

 The defendant, in the County of New York, on or 
about December 6, 2008, impersonated another, to 
wit, Jonathan Seidel, and did an act in such assumed 
character with intent to obtain a benefit and to injure 
and defraud another. 

*    *    * 

THIRTY-NINTH COUNT: 

 AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this 
indictment, further accuse the defendant of the crime 
of FORGERY IN THE THIRD DEGREE, in viola-
tion of Penal Law §170.05, committed as follows: 
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 The defendant, in the County of New York, on or 
about December 6, 2008, with intent to defraud, 
deceive and injury [sic] another, falsely made, com-
pleted and altered a written instrument. 

*    *    * 

FORTY-SIXTH COUNT: 

 AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this 
indictment, further accuse the defendant of the crime 
of CRIMINAL IMPERSONATION IN THE SEC-
OND DEGREE, in violation of Penal Law §190.25(1), 
committed as follows: 

 The defendant, in the County of New York, on or 
about July 20, 2008, impersonated another, to wit 
Frank Cross, and did an act in such assumed charac-
ter with intent to obtain a benefit and to injure and 
defraud another. 

FORTY-SEVENTH COUNT: 

 AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this 
indictment, further accuse the defendant of the crime 
of FORGERY IN THE THIRD DEGREE, in viola-
tion of Penal Law §170.05, committed as follows: 

 The defendant, in the County of New York, on or 
about July 20, 2008, with intent to defraud, deceive 
and injury [sic] another, falsely made, completed and 
altered a written instrument. 

*    *    * 

 



App. 54 

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK 
PART 71 
 ----------------------------------------- x 
THE PEOPLE OF THE 
STATE OF NEW YORK, 

-v- 

RAPHAEL GOLB, 

    Defendant. 
 ----------------------------------------- x 

 

 
MOTION FOR A TRIAL ORDER OF DISMISSAL, 
PURSUANT TO N.Y. PENAL L. §290.10, DIS-
MISSING ALL COUNTS OF THE INDICTMENT 

To: ADA John Bandler 

SIR: 

 Please take notice that upon the annexed Affir-
mation of Ronald L. Kuby, duly affirmed on the 26th 
day of September, 2010, the trial record, and all 
proceedings prior to trial, the undersigned moves this 
Court, on September 27, 2010, for a trial order of 
dismissal as to all counts, for the reasons set forth 
herein. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Ronald L. Kuby 
Law Office of Ronald L. Kuby 
119 West 23rd Street, Suite 900 
New York, NY 10011 
(212) 529-0644 
(219) 529-0644 (fax) 
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David Breitbart, Esq. 
The Law Offices of David Breitbart 
470 Park Avenue South, 10th fl. north 
New York, NY 10016 

Dated: New York, NY 
 September 26, 2010 

 
SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK 
PART 71 
 ----------------------------------------- x 
THE PEOPLE OF THE 
STATE OF NEW YORK, 

-v- 

RAPHAEL GOLB, 

    Defendant. 
 ----------------------------------------- x 

 

 
AFFIRMATION IN SUPPORT OF MOTION 
FOR A TRIAL ORDER OF DISMISSAL, 
PURSUANT TO N.Y. PENAL L. §290.10. 

 RONALD L. KUBY, an attorney duly admitted to 
practice as such in the Courts of the State of New 
York, hereby affirms, under the pains and penalties of 
perjury, as follows: 

 1. I am one of the attorneys for Raphael Golb, 
defendant herein, and I make this Affirmation in 
support of his motion for a trial order of dismissal, 
pursuant to N.Y. Penal L. §290.10. 
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 2. In accordance with the Court’s recommenda-
tion that the motion be brief, I will not repeat, at 
length, the arguments and factual assertions made in 
support of pre-trial motions to dismiss. I do, however, 
incorporate them herein as if set forth fully. More 
specifically, I incorporate Defendant’s Motion to 
Dismiss Counts 1, 2, 4-39, 41-47, 49 & 50, dated 
November 3, 2009 and the Memorandum of Law in 
support thereof; Defendant’s Notice of Motion to 
Dismiss Counts 3, 40, 48 and 51, dated December 2, 
2009 and the Memorandum of Law in support there-
of; and Defendant’s Reply Memorandum, dated 
January 26, 2010. The Court previously held that it 
was “virtually impossible – and legally unnecessary – 
for this court to address all of the myriad of argu-
ments raised by the defense at this point. . . .” Opin-
ion and Order, February 11, 2010. At this juncture, 
the prosecution’s proof has been submitted and the 
matters are ripe for adjudication. 

 
ARGUMENTS COMMON TO ALL COUNTS 
EXCEPT COUNT 51 

 Attempting to influence an academic debate is 
not a legally cognizable fraud, benefit or injury. 

 Attempting to injure the reputation of an aca-
demic opponent is not a legally cognizable fraud or 
injury. 

 The First Amendment to the Constitution of the 
United States, and the Constitution of the State of 
New York, and Article I, Section 8 of the Constitution 
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of the State of New York prevent criminalization of 
the speech engaged in by defendant, and the statutes 
under which defendant has been prosecuted have 
never been, and cannot be, extended to reach such 
speech. 

 The People’s application of the relevant statutes 
to defendant’s conduct renders the statutes void for 
vagueness under the Fourteenth Amendment to the 
Constitution of the State of New York. 

 The People’s application of the relevant statutes 
to defendant’s conduct renders them overbroad under 
both the First Amendments to the United states [sic] 
Constitution and the Constitution of the State of New 
York, and the Fourteenth Amendment to the Consti-
tution of the United States. 

 Defendant’s speech may be deemed, at worst, 
abusive and derisive and provocative, but it falls far 
short of actionable threats. It created no clear and 
present danger of some serious, substantive evil, and 
may not be criminalized consistent with the freedom 
of speech guarantees of the Constitutions of the 
United States and the State of New York. 

 Additional infirmities, in law and in proof, are 
addressed below. 

 
DISMISSAL OF COUNT 1 

 Count One, alleging Identity Theft in the Second 
Degree, has been charged with the object felony being 
Scheme to defraud in The First Degree. The People 
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stated that the underlying object was the intentional 
attempt to have the Jewish Museum cancel the 
scheduled lecture of Lawrence Schiffman and to 
replace him with Professor Norman Golb, and to 
obtain property in excess of $1,000.00.1 

 Based upon the evidence adduced at trial, no 
rational juror could conclude that Raphael Golb 
intended to have Dr. Schiffman’s lecture cancelled. 
None of the e-mails or blogs introduced at trial call 
for Dr. Schiffman’s lecture to be cancelled. Dr. Susan 
Braunstein, who was responsible for the exhibit at 
the Jewish Museum, testified that she was never 
asked by anyone, anonymously or otherwise, to cancel 
Dr. Schiffman’s lecture. Indeed, when she personally 
spoke to the defendant, he did not state, suggest, or 
intimate that Dr. Schiffman should not speak. Dr. 
Braunstein further testified that she was aware of 
the plagiarism allegations against Dr. Schiffman 
since 1995, and such allegations did not negatively 
influence her decision to invite him. She further 
testified that the exhibition was not a debate on the 

 
 1 The First Amendment/overbreadth-as-applied argument 
as to this Count has not been previously made in its entirety. 
Simply stated, even if the defendant had the requisite intent, 
the methods he used – calling Dr. Schiffman a plagiarist, are 
constitutionally protected. This is not to say that the People 
could not criminalize intending to attempt to get a lecture 
cancelled. For example, had the defendant accessed Dr. 
Schiffman’s personal information and used it to impersonate Dr. 
Schiffman to cancel the airline flight, there is no doubt that such 
speech could be criminalized. But that is far different from 
calling Dr. Schiffman nasty names. 
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origin of the Scrolls, but rather, on other issues raised 
by the Scrolls. 

 In addition, based upon the evidence adduced at 
trial, no rational juror could conclude that Raphael 
Golb intended to obtain $1,000.00 or more. Even if 
one were to accept the premise that Raphael Golb 
was the unseen hand behind Dr. Freidenberg’s re-
quest to have Norman Golb provide a third lecture at 
the Jewish Musuem [sic], this involved no deception 
or false e-mail addresses. Alternatively, even if a jury 
could conclude that Raphael Golb used some decep-
tive means to try and promote his father as a speaker 
at the Jewish Museum, there is no proof that in so 
doing, he attempted to obtain property in excess of 
$1,000.00. There is no evidence that defendant knew 
that an honorarium would be paid at all. Dr. 
Schiffman’s honorarium was $650.00. There is no 
basis to conclude that, had Dr. Golb been invited to 
speak, Dr. Golb would have received $1,000.00 or 
more. The People’s argument that “common sense” 
dictates that the $650.00 would be augmented by 
plane fare, hotel, and meals, thereby reaching the 
magic $1,000.00 figure, is utter guesswork. Would Dr. 
Golb have flown in from Chicago or taken the train? 
Would he have been in town anyway, visiting his son? 
Would he have stayed at a hotel, or stayed with his 
son or colleagues? Would he have taken taxis or the 
subway or be driven by friends? Would he have dined 
expensively, frugally, or been treated by his col-
leagues and/or son? No point in going on. The People 
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have simply reached too far and the evidence cannot 
support such a span. 

 
MOTION TO DISMISS COUNT 2 

 Count Two charges identity theft in the second 
Degree, with Falsifying Business Records in the First 
Degree as the object felony. According to the People, 
defendant’s underlying object was to “generate an 
inquiry based upon false premises.”2 

 The People have yet to set forth the “premises” 
they allege to be “false.” If the People intend to assert 
that the “false premises” are the allegations that Dr. 
Schiffman was a plagiarist, they cannot do so. This 
Court has ruled that the truth of the allegations is 
irrelevant, and has precluded efforts by the defense to 
prove the truth of the allegations. The People cannot 
be permitted to base their proof on the allegation that 
the accusations against Dr. Schiffman are false, while 
precluding the defense from proving they are true. 

 If the People maintain that the “false premises” 
are e-mails in the name of Larry.Schiffman@gmail.com 
that made a false “self-confession” of plagiarism, this 
too requires dismissal of the charges. As demonstrat-
ed at trial, an “inquiry” into plagiarism is “generated” 
whenever a complaint of such is made, no matter by 

 
 2 This differs from the Court’s far clearer, and frankly, far 
cleverer, characterization of the People’s theory in the Court’s 
proposed (or suggested) Jury Instructions, at page 16. 
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whom and no matter whether it is done anonymously, 
by pseudonym3, or by any other means. It is the 
allegation, not then [sic] sender, that generates the 
inquiry. This has been proved through Dean Foley, 
Dean Stimpson, and in the NYU documents intro-
duced at trial by the People. There is no “nexus” 
between the sender of the allegation and the fact that 
an inquiry is generated by the allegation. Therefore, 
the evidence on this Count is insufficient as a matter 
of law. 

 Next, the evidence is insufficient as a matter of 
law to prove that defendant made, or attempted to 
make, a “false entry in the business records of an 
enterprise,” at least as that term applies to the Larry. 
Schiffman@gmail.com e-mails, and the appended 
articles linked to said e-mails. 

 As demonstrated by the testimony of the Google 
Legal Compliance officer, Google request for a “name” 
to open a gmail account does not require the account 
opener’s actual name. Using a different name from 
the sender’s own name is not falsifying a business 
record of Google. The same is true of the evidence 
adduced regarding the Blogger articles authored by 
pseudonyms. 

 The e-mail address Larry.Schiffman@gmail.com 
likewise is not a “business record” of New York 

 
 3 For purposes of this motion, I use the term “pseudonym” 
to denotes [sic] names allegedly used by the defendant that are 
not charged as criminal impersonation; e.g., Peter Kaufmann. 
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University, as opposed to an address that ended in 
“NYU.edu”. 

 
DISMISSAL OF COUNTS 5, 7, 8, 10, 11, 13, 14, 16, 
17, 19, 20 

 The evidence adduced for these counts fail to 
prove that the defendant intended to defraud, or to 
commit a legally-recognized deception, or injury, or to 
receive a legally-cognizable benefit. See, Defendant’s 
November 3, 2009 Memorandum and January 26, 
2010 Memorandum. 

 
DISMISSAL OF COUNTS 22, 23, 25, 26, 27, 29, 31, 
33, 34, 35, 37, 38, 39. 

 The People have yet to articulate their theory of 
what fraud, benefit, or injury the defendant was 
intending to inflict or obtain through these e-mails, 
although the defense has been asking for over a year. 
Whatever it may be, the evidence adduced for these 
counts fail to prove that the defendant intended to 
defraud, or to commit a legally-recognized deception, 
or injury, or receive a legally-cognizable benefit. See, 
Defendant’s November 3, 2009 Memorandum and 
January 26, 2010 Memorandum. 

 
DUPLICATIVE COUNTS: JURY CONFUSION 
AND DOUBLE JEOPARDY 

 This Court earlier dismissed Count 30, alleging 
a violation of N.Y.Penal L. §190.25(4), because it 
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criminalized precisely the same conduct as Count 29, 
which charged a violation of N.Y. Penal L. §190.25(1). 
The same infirmity is present with respect to Counts 
22 and 23, Counts 25 and 26, Counts 33 and 34, and 
Counts 37 and 38. Whether based upon Double 
Jeopardy, or preventing jury confusion, Counts 22, 26, 
34, and 38, all of which charge under subsection (4), 
should be dismissed. 

 
DISMISSAL OF COUNT 42 

 Count 42 alleges a violation of N.Y. Penal L. 
§190.25(1) based solely upon defendant’s creation of 
a gmail account in the name Stephen.Goranson@ 
gmail.com. This evidence is insufficient as a matter of 
law because the simple act of opening an gmail ac-
count under the name of another person is not “im-
personating another”, nor is it “doing an act in such 
assumed character. . . .” both of which are required. 
Even if this Court were to find that the act of opening 
the account was impersonation, the completed offense 
still requires doing something in the assumed charac-
ter with the requisite intent. Here, nothing else was 
done. 

 
DISMISSAL OF COUNTS 44, 46, 47 

 Count 44 charges a violation of N.Y. Penal L. 
§190.25(1) for opening a gmail account in the 
name frank.cross.2@gmail.com and Counts 46 and 
47 charge criminal impersonation and forgery 
for codnuct [sic] described as “sent an e-mail from 
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frank.cross.2@gmail.com regarding Bart Ehrman and 
the Jewish Museum.” 

 The People have yet to articulate their theory of 
what fraud, benefit, or injury the defendant was 
intending to inflict or obtain through these e-mails, 
although the defense has been asking for over a year. 
Whatever it may be, the evidence adduced for these 
counts fail to prove that the defendant intended to 
defraud, or to commit a legally-recognized deception, 
or injury, or receive a legally-cognizable benefit. See, 
Defendant’s November 3, 2009 Memorandum and 
January 26, 2010 Memorandum. 

 In addition, there is no actual person identified 
as “Frank Cross2”. There is a Frank Moore Cross, 
who is not identified as (and is not), Frank Moore the 
Second. The dissimilarity in the e-mail address 
makes the evidence insufficient, as a matter of law, to 
convict the defendant for these acts. 

 
DISMISSAL OF COUNT 50 

 Count 50 alleges a violation of N.Y. Penal L. 
§ 190.25(1) based solely upon defendant’s creation 
of a gmail account in the name Gibson.Jeffrey2@ 
gmail.com. This simple act of opening an gmail ac-
count under the name of another person is not 
“impersonating another”, nor is it “doing an act in 
such assumed character. . . .” both of which are re-
quired. Even if this Court were to find that the act 
of opening the account was impersonation, the com-
pleted offense still requires doing something in the 
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assumed character with the requisite intent. Here, 
nothing else was alleged. 

 In addition, there is no actual person identified 
as “Gibson.Jeffrey2.” There is a Jeffrey B. Gibson, 
who testified in this case. But he is not Jeffrey2 
Gibson, or Jeffrey the II Gibson. The difference in the 
e-mail address compared with the name of the actual 
person renders the evidence insufficient as a matter 
of  law to convict the defendant for these acts. 

 
DISMISSAL OF COUNTS 3, 40, 48: AGGRAVATED 
HARASSMENT 

 Counts 3, 40, and 48 charge the misdemeanor 
of aggravated harassment as against Lawrence 
Schiffman, Stephen Goranson, and Robert Cargill, 
respectively. As noted more fully in the Memoranda of 
Law incorporated by reference herein, the communi-
cations at issue are protected by the First Amend-
ment and the statute, as applied, is both vague and 
overbroad. The evidence is insufficient to sustain a 
conviction, as the communications were merely 
criticisms and commentary. 

 “No danger flowing from speech can be deemed 
clear and present unless the incidence of the evil 
apprehended is so imminent that it may befall before 
there is an opportunity for full discussion . . . Only an 
emergency can justify repression. If there be time to 
expose through discussion the falsehood and fallacies, 
to avert the evil by the process of education, the 
remedy to be applied is more speech, not enforced 
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silence.” Whitney v. California, 274 U.S. 357, 377 
(1927) (Brandeis, J., concurring). “Speech is often 
provocative and challenging. . . . [But it] is neverthe-
less protected against censorship or punishment, 
unless shown likely to produce a clear and present 
danger of a serious substantive evil that rises far 
above public inconvenience, annoyance, or unrest”; 
only “fighting words” that, “by their very utterance, 
inflict injury or tend to incite an immediate breach of 
the peace” are punishable. City of Houston v. Hill, 482 
U.S. 451, 461-62 (1987), quoting Lewis v. City of New 
Orleans, 415 U.S. 130, 132 (1974) (internal quotes 
omitted). As a matter of law, the communications sent 
cannot constitute a crime as they are fully protected 
by the First Amendment. See, e.g., People v. Smith, 89 
Misc.2d 789 (App. Term, 2d Dept. 1977); People v. 
Dietze, 75 N.Y.2d 47 (1989). 

 In addition, Courts have held that the statute, at 
least to the extent that it criminalizes conduct that is 
meant to annoy or alarm, and/or is likely to annoy 
and alarm, is unconstitutionally vague, People v. 
Dupont, 107 A.D.2d 247 (1st Dept. 1985), and over-
broad. People v. Dietze, 75 N.Y.2d 47 (1989). 

 Lastly, aggravated harassment almost requires 
that the actionable communications be sent to the 
alleged victim, People v. Dupont, 107 A.D.2d 247 (1st 
Dept. 1985);4 People v. Martinez, 19 Misc.3d 1104(A) 

 
 4 Movant recognizes that this Court has previously held that 
this portion of DuPont is dicta. Movant respectfully disagrees, as 

(Continued on following page) 
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(Crim. Ct., New York County 2008) (“the allegations 
must establish that the defendant communicated 
with the complainant”). It is true that in “the last few 
years there have been a handful of ‘oddball’ cases 
where, under peculiar circumstances, communica-
tions made to some one other than the victim may 
nevertheless be sufficient. . . . [Kochanowski and 
other citations omitted] But the general rule still 
holds true; it is simply not a crime merely to speak or 
write bad things about another person.” People v. 
Bethea, 1 Misc.3d 909A; 781 N.Y.S.2d 626 (Bronx 
Crim Ct. 2004). The highly limited exceptions carved 
out in the cases cited in Bethea refer to conduct that 
threatened to kill a third party or conduct that 
“post[ed an] internet message importuning others to 
harass complainant,” id., my making an obscene 
proposal. The suggestion made by this Court, that a 
message that is intended to have “specific others 
communicate with the victim” can constitute a basis 
for aggravated harassment goes beyond the small 
steps taken by the handful of “oddball” cases. At the 
very least, the People would have to prove that these 
intended communications by others would be harass-
ing, e.g., an internet posting that falsely stated Dr. 
Schiffman was a child molester, and publishing his 
phone number and contact information urging the 
viewer to call Dr. Schiffman and tell him what you 

 
the vagueness and overbreadth issues were also tied to the fact 
that communications sent to others besides the “target” could be, 
and were, made criminal. 
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think should happen to child molesters would proba-
bly qualify, as the communications generated would 
themselves constitute actionable fighting words, and 
the indirect communication itself should the requisite 
intent. But the evidence is insufficient to show this, 
as a matter of law.5 

 
DISMISSAL OF COUNT 51: UNAUTHORIZED USE 
OF A COMPUTER 

 Count 51 alleges a single violation of N.Y. Penal 
Law § 156.05 which provides that “A person is guilty 
of unauthorized use of a computer when he or she 
knowingly uses, causes to be used, or accesses a 
computer, computer service, or computer network 
without authorization.” N.Y. Penal Law §156.05. It is 
not disputed that, as an NYU alumnus, Raphael Golb 
was “authorized” to “use” or “access” a computer at 
Bobst Library. The People’s theory of this offense is 
that defendant used the computer in violation of 
NYU’s terms of service agreement by committing 
crimes on the NYU computer. 

 As noted in the December 2, 2009 Motion papers 
and Memorandum of Law, and in the January 26, 
2010 Reply Memorandum of Law, there are two 
infirmities with this theory that mandate acquittal. 

 
 5 No emails were sent to Goranson or Cargill. The only 
e-mails sent to Schiffman were polite suggestions that he 
answer his critics. This simply cannot be a crime. 
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 The People’s theory is that the defendant, by 
using NYU computers to allegedly violate the law, 
violated NYU’s policy against using computers to 
violate the law, and hence, acted in excess of his 
authorization and hence, can be criminalized under 
§156.05. 

 Knowingly violating an Internet Service Pro-
vider’s terms or service (TOS) (which is directly 
analogous to NYU’s policy) does not constitute 
“accessing a computer without authorization or in 
excess of authorization” United States v. Drew, 259 
FRD 449, 2009 WL 2872855 (C.D. Cal. 2009).  

 The Drew court held that the federal statute (a 
direct analogue to §156.05) was void for vagueness 
because it failed to provide actual notice as to what 
was prohibited and did not contain minimal guide-
lines to govern law enforcement. Id. at 464. The Drew 
Court held that ordinary people would not consider 
the breach of a TOS to be a contractual violation 
resulting in civil, but not criminal, penalties. That 
reasoning is particularly applicable here, as the 
evidence at trial established that only one subsection 
of NYU’s computer policy warned about possible 
criminal penalties for violations, while the penalty 
subsection (H) provided only institutional punish-
ments for violating the subsections that that defen-
dant allegedly violated. 

 Thus, the issue is not whether defendant was on 
notice that committing a crime with a computer was a 
crime – by its own terms, one knows that committing 
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a crime is a crime. The issue is whether defendant 
had any notice that committing a crime with an NYU 
computer is an additional crime by virtue of using an 
NYU computer. As in Drew, he did not. 

 The Drew court also found that, given the wide 
range of conduct prohibited by the MySpace TOS 
(which as with the NYU Code requires “civility”), it 
was unclear which violations would result in acting in 
“excess of authorization” and which would not. 259 
FRD at 464-465. To the extent that the answer was 
“all of them,” the Drew court noted that the law 
would be “incredibly overbroad and contravene the 
second prong of the void-for-vagueness doctrine as to 
setting guidelines to govern law enforcement.” Id. at 
465. As the Drew Court noted, in language that 
should be applied here: 

In sum, if any conscious breach of a website’s 
terms of service is held to be sufficient by 
itself to constitute intentionally accessing a 
computer without authorization or in excess 
of authorization, the result will be that 
[the statute] becomes a law “that affords 
too much discretion to the police and too 
little notice to citizens who wish to use the 
[Internet].” 

Drew, 259 FRD at 467, quoting City of Chicago v. 
Morales, 527 U.S. 41, 64 (1999). 
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WHEREFORE, it is respectfully requested that all 
counts in the indictment be dismissed. 

                                              
Ronald L. Kuby 

Dated: New York, NY 
 September 26, 2010 
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DEFENDANT’S REQUEST TO CHARGE #1: INJURY 

A. The intended injury that the People must prove 
is not limited to financial injury. However, not all 
injuries are the subject of the criminal law. 

1. Intending to [sic] another’s reputation by 
disseminating falsehoods is not the type of 
harm that the criminal law recognizes. That 
type of injury may be redressed in the civil 
courts. 

See, e.g., Ashton v. Kentucky, 384 U.S. 195 
(1966); Figari v. New York Telephone Co., 
32 A.D.2d 434, 446 (2d Dept. 1969). See also, 
Defendant’s Nov. 3, 2009 Memorandum of 
Law, pp. 33-44. 

2. Similarly, the injury intended must go 
beyond intending to have another spend time 
responding to accusations or criticisms. A 
defamation does not become criminal simply 
because the alleged injured party spends 
time responding to, or countering, what he or 
she believes to be falsehoods. 

Self-evident conclusion based upon #1. 

3. Similarly, intending to abuse, deride, 
provoke, with the use of words, even vulgar 
words, is not the type of harm that the 
criminal law recognizes. 

See, People v. Dietze, 75 N.Y.2d 47 (1989) 
(“Speech is often abusive – even vulgar, deri-
sive, and provocative – and yet is still protect-
ed under the State and Federal constitutional 
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guarantees of free expression unless it is 
much more than that. . . . ) 

 
DEFENDANT’S REQUEST TO CHARGE #2: BENEFIT 

A. The intended benefit that the People must prove 
is likewise not limited to financial gain. Similarly, not 
all benefits are the subject of the criminal law. The 
fact that a defendant may gain emotional pleasure 
from harming another’s reputation, from informing 
the public or the academic community of perceived 
wrongdoing, from provoking debate, from getting 
another to respond to criticisms, and/or from irritat-
ing another is not the type of benefit that the crimi-
nal law recognizes. 

Self-evident mirror-image of the previous 
propositions. If intending to do these things 
cannot be a legally-recognized harm, then the 
fact that one enjoys doing them cannot be a 
legally-recognized benefit. 

 
DEFENDANT’S REQUEST TO CHARGE #3 DE-
FRAUD 

A. Intent to defraud means an intention to deceive 
another person, and induce such person, in reliance 
on the deception, to assume, create, transfer, alter or 
terminate a right, obligation, or power. 

Black’s Law Dictionary, 6th ed. 1990, cited 
with approval, Donnino Commentary, 
§170.05, McKinney’s, (2010), pages 408-409. 
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“Intent to defraud” is not defined in the Penal 
Law. 

 1. As with the terms “benefit” and “injury,” the 
intended deception need not be financial. And, as 
with the terms “benefit” and “injury,” not all decep-
tions are the subject of the criminal law. Satire, 
parody, and/or pranks, for example, generally contain 
elements of deception, but these are not criminal. 

 2. Moreover, the People must prove that the 
intent to deceive was an actual, or genuine intent. 
For example, if the People fail to prove that the 
defendant was actually intending to convince others 
that Professor Lawrence Schiffman was the author of 
the e-mails, and/or fail to prove that the defendant 
was actually intending to convince others to assume, 
create, transfer, alter or terminate a right, obligation, 
or power based upon this deception, then you must 
acquit the defendant on these counts. In other words, 
to find that the defendant intended to defraud, you 
must find, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the de-
fendant actually intended for others to believe that 
the Schiffman e-mails were authored by Professor 
Lawrence Schiffman, and intending to convince 
others to initiate an investigation of Professor 
Schiffman based upon an induced belief in the false 
self-confession rather than upon the content of the 
linked article. 

There must be a nexus between the imperson-
ation and the intent to deceive. If the content 
of an e-mail would have triggered an investi-
gation no matter who the sender (as in the 
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case of NYU), then the sender is irrelevant 
unless there was an attempt to add weight or 
credibility to the underlying accusation by 
impersonating a specific person. 

 
DEFENDANT’S REQUEST TO CHARGE #4: IN-
TENT TO DEFRAUD, GAIN A BENEFIT, OR CAUSE 
HARM. 

 A. In order to find, beyond a reasonable doubt, 
that the defendant intended to defraud, or cause 
legally recognized harm, or to achieve a legally recog-
nized benefit, the People must prove, beyond a rea-
sonable doubt, that the defendant knew that the 
accusations he was making under assumed identities 
were false. That is, it is not enough to prove that the 
defendant knew he was impersonating or taking the 
identity of another; you must find that he did so to 
make accusations that he knew were false. For this 
purpose, you need not decide whether such accusa-
tions were true or false; you need only decide whether 
the People have proved that the defendant knew 
them to be false. 

 B. In considering the defendant’s intent, you 
may consider whether the accusations made by 
defendant were, in fact, true. 

Article 1, §8 of the New York State 
Constituiton [sic], requiring that in all prose-
cutions for criminal libel, truth is a defense. 
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DEFENDANT’S REQUEST TO CHARGE #5: 
FREEDOM OF SPEECH 

 The right to speak and to write freely is protected 
by both the Constitution of the United States and the 
State of New York. You cannot find the defendant 
guilty of any of the charged offenses unless you find 
that his speech and/or writings created a clear and 
present danger of some serious, substantive evil. 

See, e.g., People v. Dietze, 75 N.Y.2d 47 
(1989); Vives v. City of New York, 305 
F.Supp.2d 289 (S.D.N.Y. 2003). 

 
DEFENDANT’S REQUEST TO CHARGE #6: IM-
PERSONATE A REAL PERSON. 

Before you can find the defendant guilty of 
criminal impersonation or identity theft, you 
must find, beyond a reasonable doubt, that 
he intended to assume, and did assume, the 
identity of a specific, identifiable person. It is 
not sufficient to prove that a name used by 
the defendant happens to be the name of a 
real person. 
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SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK 
COUNTY OF NEW YORK 
 ----------------------------------------- x 
THE PEOPLE OF THE 
STATE OF NEW YORK 

-v- 

RAPHAEL GOLB 
 ----------------------------------------- x 

Ind. 2721/2009 

 
DEFENDANT’S OBJECTIONS TO THE COURT’S 
PROPOSED JURY CHARGE. 

 The defendant incorporates all prior arguments 
as if set forth herein. Specifically, Defendant incorpo-
rates Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Counts 1, 2, 4-
39, 41-47, 49 & 50, dated November 3, 2009 and the 
Memorandum of Law in support thereof; Defendant’s 
Notice of Motion to Dismiss Counts 3, 40, 48 and 51, 
dated December 2, 2009 and the Memorandum of 
Law in support thereof; and Defendant’s Reply Mem-
orandum, dated January 26, 2010, and Defendant’s 
Proposed Jury Instructions 1-6; Court Exhibit C. 

 The most recent iteration of the Court’s proposed 
charge is attached hereto. 

 1. Defendant objects to the Court’s proposed 
definition of “defraud” and “fraud,” as used on page 
11, lines 11-16. Specifically, defendant objects to the 
words “interest,” “advantage” and “benefit.” More 
specifically, the terms are both vague and overbroad, 
particularly in the context of speech. Under the 
Court’s instruction, if the defendant assumed the 
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identity of another to hurt someone’s feelings (assum-
ing he/she has an “interest” in those feelings), he is 
guilty. Or, if the jury finds that the defendant as-
sumed the identity of another for the purpose of 
criticizing the victim’s scholarship or movie, he is 
guilty. The use of the word “advantage” is equally 
problematic. Under the Court’s proposed instruction, 
if the jury finds that the defendant assumed the 
identity of others to deprive the victim of an “ad-
vantage” in an online debate over the origin of the 
Dead Sea Scrolls, the defendant is guilty. Since the 
most important disputed aspect of this case is the 
defendant’s intent in doing what he admits to have 
done, there must be language that circumscribes the 
scope of “advantage” and “interest.” Otherwise, 
anything and everything qualifies. 

 2. The same is true with respect to the use of 
the word “benefit” on page 12, line 14, and the defini-
tion of benefit at page 18, lines 6-8. Defining benefit 
as “any gain or advantage,” no matter how intangible, 
psychological or spiritual, renders the term unconsti-
tutionally vague and impossibly overbroad. 

 3. The Court’s proposed charge does not define 
“injury.” Leaving this crucial term to be interpreted 
as anything “hurtful” also renders the term unconsti-
tutionally vague and overbroad. 

 4. Defendant objects to the Court’s articulation 
of the People’s theory as set forth on page 15, lines 1-
3. First, the statement of the People’s theory as set 
forth on page 15, lines 1-3. First, the statement of the 
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People’s theory from the Court gives it an authority 
that it would not otherwise have if articulated by Mr. 
Bandler. Second, the Court does not give the defense 
theory. And third, the Court’s formulation of the 
People’s theory differs substantially from what the 
People said its theory was in the opening statement. 
Mr. Bandler stated that the object was to have Dr. 
Schiffman cancelled as a participant and have Dr. 
Golb take his place. The Court’s formulation subtly, 
but significantly, changes the People’s theory, without 
any notice to the defense. 

 5. Defendant objects to the Court’s articulation 
of the People’s theory as set forth on page 15, lines 9-
11, on the same grounds. More specifically, the People 
asserted that the object was to “generate an investi-
gation based upon false premises.” That is strikingly 
different from the Court’s formulation. 

 6. Lastly, as set forth in earlier papers, it is not 
a crime to intend to annoy someone in a manner 
likely to annoy them. I do it every day. The Court’s 
proposed charge on the count, while faithfully track-
ing the statutory language, is unconstitutional. 

Respectfully submitted, 

                                              
Ronald L. Kuby 

Dated: New York, NY 
 September 28, 2010 

 


